
"THE GREAT WAR IN WACO, TEXAS: 

AFRICAN AMERICANS, RACE RELATIONS, 

AND THE WHITE PRIMARY, 1916-1922" 

THESIS 

Presented to the Graduate Council of 
Southwest Texas State University 

in Partial Fulfillment of 
the Requirements 

For the Degree 

Master of Arts 

By 

Katherine Kennis Kuehler Walters, B. A. 

San Marcos, Texas 
August, 2000 



COPYRIGHT 

By 

Katherine K. K. Walters 

2000 



To Matthew & Karo 



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

"Without vision, the people perish," the motto of the New Hope Baptist Church in 

Waco, Texas, served as my inspiration throughout what turned out to be a long journey to 

finish this thesis. It's an appropriate message for New Hope, a church formed by ex­

slaves, and for Waco's black community. This and the other black churches in Waco 

provided stability and support in unsettling times. I find remarkable the community's 

continued strength, perseverance, and determination to achieve their vision, whether it be 

equality or, at times, mere survival, even when the fight has often seemed futile. 

My vision, which took far less courage or determination to achieve in comparison, 

could not have been realized without the help of many people to whom I owe my 

gratitude. Dr. Joseph Shiloh, the current pastor of New Hope, and members of his 

congregation welcomed me and told me the extraordinary history of the church and 

helped me understand the community's fortitude. I want to especially thank Dr. Shiloh 

for putting me in contact with Eucolia Erby, who graciously answered my questions for 

several hours and searched for members ofL. M. Sublett and R. D. Evans's families for 

me. Mr. Erby, the liveliest ninety-year-old I have had the pleasure to meet, told me 

wonderful stories of his own experiences in Waco, including his efforts to integrate the 

local Boy Scout and Campfire Girl troops. 

I also wish to thank the archivists and library staffs who patiently listened to my 

questions and helped me find those haystacks that held elusive needles of information 

vi 



that I needed to complete this thesis, including the staffs at the Waco Public Library, the 

Texas State Archives (especially Donald Brice), the NARA at Fort Worth, the McLennan 

County District Clerk's Office, and the McLennan County and Waco archives. The 

Southwest Texas State University's Inter-library Loan Office saved me countless 

frustrations and travel expenses by quickly responding to my requests for materials. 

Special thanks go to the staffs at the Center for American History at the University of 

Texas in Austin, especially Barbara and the friendly man behind the desk who always 

greeted me with a smile, and at the Texas Collection at Baylor University, where Ellen 

Brown tirelessly gave me her time, attention, and always useful suggestions. Dr. James 

SoRelle, Dr. William Carrigan, and Rebecca Kosary also helped me find elusive sources 

and discussed ideas during the process of this study. 

The faculty and staff of Southwest Texas State University's History Department, 

especially Dr. Frank de la Teja, Dr. Everett Swinney, and Dr. Kenneth Margerison, have 

helped me explore my love for history, guided me through the mires of academia so far, 

and taught me to see the silver lining in my work despite the red ink all over it. I have a 

special place in my heart for Carolyn Fielder, who makes everyone's life in the 

Department easier. I want to thank those instructors whom I have worked for, Trace 

Etienne-Gray, Dr. Mary Ellen Curtin, Dr. James Pohl, and Dr. James Wilson, who taught 

me history and how to teach history. Words cannot express the admiration and respect I 

have for Dr. Wilson, under whom I worked for two years. He taught me more about 

myself than I could ever learn about history. 

I would be remiss ifl did not include those who supported me through my 

education. Dr. Richard Milk and Judy Hoffmann have given me both their guidance and 

vii 



friendship despite the fact that we rarely see each other. The several friends and 

colleagues I have meet during graduate school, especially Rebecca Kosary, Constance 

Bishop, David Sysma, Beverly Tomek, Mark Samuels, Amanda Brand, Sandra Davidson, 

Tara Seibel, and Clarissa Hinojosa, have helped spark ideas, vent frustrations, and blow 

off steam. Sorry for playing the music too loud in my office, and, Clarissa, keep an eye 

on the air vent. 

I owe the members of my committee, Dr Victoria Bynum, Dr. Ron Brown, and, 

my advisor and committee chair, Dr. Gregg Andrews, my gratitude for providing their 

valuable suggestions and guidance. Dr. Andrews deserves special recognition for his 

insights, enthusiasm, and, most of all, his patience during this two-year journey. 

Finally, to those who have put up with two years of hearing about Waco in the 

1920s, a subject they know more about than they ever wanted, namely Chuck, Valera, 

Patricia, Jordan, Mitzi, and Jeff, thank you for supporting me and for never saying, 

"You're not finished yet??" To my parents and my brothers, your high spirits and faith 

have kept me going when I grew weary of driving to Waco and sneezing from dusty court 

records. Most importantly, I want to thank my husband, Matthew. Without his love, 

patience, and support, I could never have completed this process. 

Submitted to Committee on July 17, 2000 

viii 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

PAGE 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . v1 

INTRODUCTION . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . I 

CHAPTER 

I. RACIAL COOPERATION "TO KEEP THE WORLD 
SAFE FOR DEMOCRACY'' . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 

II. THE FIGHT FOR DEMOCRACY COMES HOME: 
DISMANTLING THE CITY'S WHITE PRIMARY . . . . . . . . 35 

III. "100 PER-CENT AMERICANISM": THE KU KLUX KLAN 
AND THE RETURN OF THE WHITE PRIMARY . . . . . . . . 61 

CONCLUSION . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 97 

BIBLIOGRAPHY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . I 03 



INTRODUCTION 

"We return. We return from fighting! We return fighting! Make room for 

Democracy! We saved it in France, and by the Great Jehovah, we will save it in Texas, 

or know the reason why." This statement, printed in W. E. B. Du Bois's The Crisis in 

May, 1919, illustrated the new militancy that many African Americans in Texas and 

other states had gained through participation in World War I. Du Bois and other black 

leaders had argued that by fighting and sacrificing in the name of patriotic duty, blacks 

would prove to whites that they deserved first-class citizenship, especially political 

equality. Despite the possible danger, African Americans felt this new sense of 

empowerment, which encouraged greater defiance of Southern social customs and legally 

segregated institutions that had traditionally marginalized them. The war thus became a 

turning point in their self-perception and fostered a more assertive attitude toward gaining 

their civil rights. In Waco, Texas, black middle-class leaders expressed this assertiveness 

by demanding their right to vote in the local Democratic primary, a right that was 

restricted to white voters only. 1 

Located on the Blackland Prairie of Central Texas, Waco developed as a 

burgeoning business center whose economy was rooted in McLennan County's cotton 

farms. With a population of more than 32,000 in 1920, Waco was one of the ten largest 

cities in Texas, with many residents, black and white, only one or two generations off the 

farm. Since antebellum days, racial lines had reinforced the town's social and economic 
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class structure, with a middle class growing out of the area's new industrialization around 

the tum of the century. As in the rest of the South, whites in Waco maintained increasing 

social control over blacks, who make up approximately 20 percent of the segregated 

city's population, through Jim Crow laws and violence.2 

Before this period, African Americans in Waco had endured a long history of 

extreme racial violence and injustice. Blacks first arrived as slaves in the 1830s to work 

on McLennan County's numerous cotton plantations. Despite the defeat of the 

Confederacy in the Civil War, slavery still existed in many parts of McLennan County 

nearly three months after June 19, 1865, emancipation day in Texas. As late as 

. September, 1866, Republican officials reported that some blacks were still held in 

bondage in Waco's neighboring county, Bosque. In reality, those freedmen who 

remained in the area saw little difference between their previous status as slaves and their 

new lives as sharecroppers, shackled by debt.3 

Race relations worsened during Radical Reconstruction when the Fourteenth and 

Fifteenth Amendments extended citizenship rights and suffrage to freedmen. 

Republicans courted the black vote, causing even greater resentment among Southern 

whites. By mid-1867, black voters outnumbered whites in McLennan County, a factor 

that safely kept Republicans in office. The election of one Radical Republican in 

particular no doubt angered many traditional Texas Democrats. Shepard Mullens, an ex­

slave, won a seat in the Twelfth Legislature, where he unsuccessfully pushed for the 

confiscation of property owned by large planters. Mullens owned property in Waco and 

elsewhere in the county, a daily reminder of African Americans' greater political and 

economic role. Mullens also served on the county court of commissioners, along with 
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Stephen Cobb, the black founder of the New Hope Baptist Church in Waco. Other 

African Americans held positions as city alderman and district supervisor of black and 

white schools, and they served on juries. The presence of John Mason, a black state 

policeman, only heightened former Confederates' anger at those who had gained political 

control after the Civil War.4 

White resentment found solace in violence. Lawlessness spread throughout the 

county as individuals, mobs, and night-riding groups such as the Ku Klux Klan sought to 

regain social, economic, and political control. Whites robbed and beat blacks in the 

streets, pushed them off their land, and murdered with little or no provocation. The 

Freedmen's Bureau reported forty-two acts of mob violence alone against blacks in 

McLennan County between 1866 and1868. 5 

Violence continued, although slowed, after Reconstruction. With the election of 

Waco son Richard Coke as governor of Texas, Democrats regained control, and blacks' 

political power steadily decreased until Jim Crow laws completely disfranchised them in 

the early 1900s. After 1876, McLennan County blacks were excluded from juries. White 

juries sent blacks convicted of petty crimes to pick cotton on convict farms or to build 

county roads. Those accused of more extreme crimes such as murder or rape, especially 

when the victim was white, either faced a painful, horrific death at a mob's hands or, if 

protected for trial by law officers, were meted out extreme sentences. In 1905, for 

example, Lee Robinson was tried, convicted, and sentenced to 1,001 years in prison for 

the assault and attempted rape of a white woman. Several other .black men accused of 

similar crimes never saw trial; they perished by rope or were burned, often in front of city 

hall.6 
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African Americans reacted to violent repression in various ways. Some fought 

back but usually to a fatal end. Black farmers and middle-class leaders sought greater 

political power in the Republican party, or in some cases a third party, such as the 

Greenbacks and the Populists. Cotton pickers slowed production or stopped completely, 

while others simply migrated from the rural countryside to the city or out of state. 

Migration in and out of the city balanced after the Civil War until 1910, when more 

blacks left Waco than moved in. By then, the percentage of blacks had declined from 36 

percent in 1870 to 23 percent. Most blacks, however, stayed in the area and 

accommodated whites to avoid a violent fate. Although several black community leaders 

worked through narrow political channels for greater equality, few followed them down 

that dangerous path. Those who had achieved middle-class status avoided whites as 

much as possible and tried to depend on their own race for economic advancement in a 

segregated society.7 

Waco's heritage of violence continued until World War I, when racial cooperation 

became a patriotic, if only temporary, necessity "to keep the world safe for democracy." 

Violence, more specifically lynchings, in Waco, and throughout the South, contributed to 

domestic instability and racial disunity, which in turn threatened U.S. war efforts. A riot 

in Waco between local police and black soldiers, weeks before the more violent and 

infamous riot in Houston, illustrated the explosive volatility of antagonistic race relations. 

Also faced with an exodus of farm labor and threats of black recruitment by German 

spies, the white officials of war work committees and the Council of Defense faced the 

growing need to gain black support and felt pressure from the national level to 

incorporate local black leaders into these organizations. Traditional methods of racial 



repression and marginalization yielded to more cooperative, although limited, initiatives 

to ensure "victory over the Kaiser." Whites created "colored" branches of war work 

organizations and used volunteer black speakers to encourage food conservation, farm 

work, loyalty, and other patriotic behavior. Blacks used the opportunity to gain a brief 

role in city and county affairs and to participate in the war work for black soldiers. 

5 

Drawing on various government records, newspaper accounts, and oral histories, 

this study examines the impact of World War I on race relations in Waco. African 

Americans' inclusion in the war gave them a new sense of social importance and self­

awareness that transformed into a more militant attitude toward civil rights. Instead of 

accommodating whites, as they did before the Great War, they fought through the court 

system for full suffrage denied by the white Democratic primary in Texas. Their 

temporarily successful challenge to the white primary in a local court in 1919 encouraged 

other Afro-Texans to follow their lead and push for greater civil rights. 8 

This growing black empowerment, however, combined with post-war economic 

disillusionment, the resurgence of religious fundamentalism, fears of radicalism, and 
·, 

other concerns, heightened desperation among ordinary white citizens who were 

determined to reestablish pre-war social control and race relations. The need for racial 

cooperation declined with the end of the war, which in tum allowed for the return· of 

Southern "normalcy." Local whites in Waco reestablished and reaffirmed African 

Americans' pre-war social status through intimidation, mob violence, and the Ku Klux 

Klan (KKK). By 1922, thanks in large part to the explosive growth of the KKK, the pre-

, war pattern of race relations had been clearly reestablished, and Waco blacks suffered a 

decisive setback in their pursuit for political equality when the court allowed the 
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restoration of the local white primary. 
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CHAPTER I 

RACIAL COOPERATION 
"TO KEEP THE WORLD SAFE FOR DEMOCRACY'' 

As the United States moved from preparedness into World War I, African 

Americans in Waco, as throughout the South, remained a marginalized section of society. 

Decades of racial violence and Jim Crow laws enforced a white-dominated social 

structure in which blacks struggled with their second-class status. World War I, however, 

encouraged white leaders to reevaluate repressive methods of racial control and nurture a 

more racially cooperative atmosphere. Faced with the task of creating a united home 

front, war agencies and patriotic clubs had to ensure support for the "fight for 

democracy" overseas from all sectors of society, including those who did not enjoy full 

democracy at home. For whites, inclusion of blacks in war-time activities secured loyalty 

by giving them "a stake in the war." For blacks, this wider social role created a greater 

awareness oftl,teir right to first-class citizenship. 

From years ofracial violence, most African Americans in Waco had learned to 

survive by accommodating whites. Most subscribed to Booker T. Washington's 

philosophy of social uplift, consisting of self-help, self-improvement, and patience. 

Ardent accommodationists discouraged any demand for political rights because they felt 

it only aggravated race relations and invited violence. The social uplift concept provided 

an alternative image of blacks, one that resembled the white middle class, to combat 

9 



negative racial stereotypes of blacks as lazy, dishonest, and immoral. Those who 

followed Washington's ideas believed that self-improvement would help gain acceptance 

from whites, which, in tum, would end discrimination and violence. Some members of 

the middle class, however, often assimilated too much and adopted whites' negative 

opinions, which they then applied to lower-class blacks. 1 

Washington's philosophy helped blacks build their community in the constant 

shadow of possible danger. Waco became a center for educational opportunities, which 

were central to "race advancement." In 1881, local leaders established one of the few 

black high schools in Texas, named after the first principal, A. J. Moore. The Paul Quinn 

College, the first African-American liberal arts college in Texas, moved from Austin to 

Waco in 1877. It offered vocational skills, teacher and theological training, and liberal 

arts classes under the guidance of the African Methodist Episcopal Church. Founded in 

1872, the college had gained recognition from black publications such as W. E. B. Du 

Bois's The Crisis. By the end of World War I, the campus had grown to include twenty­

two acres. Although much smaller, the Central Texas College, founded in 1902 by a 

group of Baptist parishioners, offered similar classes, often taught by local physicians and 

businessmen. Both schools made social mobility a greater possibility. 2 

Growth of the city's minority population helped foster a strong middle class, 

relatively independent of whites but prosperous from segregation. De facto segregation 

confined African-American businesses to South or East Waco, also known as the Fourth 

and Fifth Ward, and the south side of the city square. Middle-class black families lived 

closest to downtown or white neighborhoods, whereas poorer blacks, whites, and 

Mexicans lived on the city's outskirts or worked on county farms as hired hands. Social 
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activities centered on the colleges, fraternal societies, and local churches, such as the 

Starlight Band of the New Hope Baptist Church and St. Paul's A.. M. E. choir. In 1916, 

as the country prepared for war, the black community in Waco included several teachers 

and professors, six licensed physicians, two dentists, a pharmacist, a lawyer, and 

numerous businesses such as the L. M. Sublett Grocers, the Mecca Drugstore, the 

Excelsior Cafe, 'the Farmers' Improvement Association Bank, the Continental Casualty 

Company, and three newspapers. 3 

Social clubs and churches also embraced the self-help philosophy. Fraternal and 

community-service organizations, such as the Knights of Pythias, the Order ofCalanthe, 

and the Household of Ruth, offered insurance and loans, and contributed to churches and 

schools. The Knights and Ladies of Tabor purchased land and established Taborian Park 

for community activities. The New Hope Baptist Church began a fund drive in 1909 to 

erect a church buildirig to accommodate the growing congregation. The New Hope 

building board, led by pastor Dr. J. Newton Jenkins, demanded self-reliance by requiring 

all members to donate a specified amount each week or lose fellowship in the church. 

The drive lasted until the first cornerstone was laid in 1921. Proud of their 

accomplishment, the congregation voted to use the fund drive's slogan, "Where there is 

no vision, the people perish," as the credo of New Hope Baptist.4 

Robert Lloyd Smith, Waco's strongest black advocate for collective self-help, had 

begun the Farmers' Improvement Society before moving to Waco in 1910. As a former 

aide of Booker T. Washington, U. S. Deputy Marshall appointed by Theodore Roosevelt, 

and former Texas state legislator, Smith and his ideals gained respect and support from 

the black community. His organization encouraged home ownership, crop 
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diversification, cooperatives, and cash buying instead of credit. Like the Tuskegee 

Institute, the Farmers' Improvement Society College in Wolfe City, Texas, taught self­

reliance through courses on efficient methods of farming and vocational skills. Smith 

established the Farmers' Improvement Bank in Waco to finance home and farm 

ownership, and his clothing factory provided alternative employment for those moving 

from the farm to the county's urban center. In his 1902 Farmers' Improvement Society 

address, Smith clearly stated his belief in the Washington philosophy: "It is a matter of 

great concern to ourselves and to those with whom we live that steadily we press forward 

in securing the qualities of mind and heart and those outward indications of them that will 

mak~ us acceptable to the masses of our countrymen." Smith believed that if blacks kept 

a clean home, well-groomed crops, and Christian faith, whites would eventually accept 

them into society. 5 

The development of the segregated black middle class reflected the Southern 

progressive goals of Waco's white leaders. City council members made efforts to eclipse 

the area's violent image with symbols of progress to attract big business, rincluding 

railroads and cotton industries. During the early twentieth century, McLennan County 

had several cotton gins, seed oil plants, and textile mills. Waco, located in the center of 

Texas, became a major railway junction and a popular site for fraternal societies and 

other organizations' state conventions and meetings. In 1914, Waco mayor J. H. Mackey 

compiled a series of reports on the progress of construction, transportation, and education 

in the city to highlight his office's achievements over the previous two years. These 

reports included pictures of smiling children playing on new playgrounds and in new city 

parks, such as Mackey Park, Carroll Park, and, the pride of the city, Cameron Park. The 
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reopening of the Texas Cotton Palace, which hosted fairs and expositions, the Waco 

Suspension Bridge over the Brazos that connected East and West Waco, and the 

Interurban train to Dallas all brought praise to the city and increased trade for local 

businesses. The Mayor's report also included pictures of recently paved streets and clean 

brick school buildings. 6 

Progress for the city, however, did not reach the black community in East and 

South Waco, a fact made evident in the lack of city services. For example, street and 

school improvements praised in the mayor's progress report of 1914 neglected African 

American sections of town. Progressive programs for new city parks and playgrounds for 

white children displaced poor black and white neighborhoods ... And, although the city 

provided the East Side with a fire station and equipment, it was the only department 

without a $5,000 fire engine. Instead, blacks had to rely on a fire wagon and horse in 

case of an emergency. Principals of black schools warned children to walk to and from· 

school in groups, and assigned routes home that bypassed white streets to avoid upsetting 

white business owners. 7 

Progress, self-improvement, and accommodation, however, failed to end racial 

violence in Waco. Between 1882, when the Chicago Tribune began counting, and 

American entry into World War I in 1917, McLennan County witnessed the lynching of 

at least five black men, three of whom died at the hands of mobs in Waco. The fifth 

lynching challenged Smith and the black community's accommodationist philosophy 

more than any other, and showed the world Waco's violent nature.8 

On the afternoon of May 8, 1916, the children of Lucy Fryar, a white woman, 

found their mother lying dead in the seed house of their farm in rural Robinson, just south 
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of Waco. A neighbor found the woman's husband, George Fryar, and called the sheriffs 

office. That evening, Deputy Sheriff Lee Jenkins found mentally-handicapped, 

sevent~en-year-old Jesse Washington at his family's home on the Fryar farm, where h~ 

had worked picking cotton for the past five months. Jenkins arrested him for rape and 

murder. Law officers immediately moved Washington to Dallas, where they obtained a 

confession, and kept the alleged criminal there until his trial to protect him from a lynch 

mob.9 

The mob included Fryar and several other Robinson farmers who demanded that 

Washington be turned over in the name of Southern womanhood, a common excuse for 

lynching. For decades, white males had used lynching in the name of chivalry as the 

ultimate tool of white supremacy because it reaffirmed their dominance over blacks, as 

well as over white women, through fear. Women's fear of"rabid black rapists who lust 

after white victims" reinforced their self image as vulnerable, passionless, and fragile 

"possessions." This fear caused women to encourage lynch mobs and in turn to defend 

this image. As one member of the mob asserted, "When we left home tonight our wives, · 

daughters, and sisters kissed us goodbye and told us to do our duty, and we're trying to 

do it as citizens." The court set the trial date a week after the murder, on May 15, 1916, 

ironically the day after Mother's Day. 10 

During the week before the trial, the Waco Times Herald discouraged vigilante 

action, stating, "Let the law be supreme. Let the law take its course." The newspaper, 

however, encouraged a guilty verdict by printing a confession, a list of the chosen jurors, 

and the names of the court-appointed defense attorneys. Before the trial began, eager 

onlookers filled the courtroom to the point where the crowd had to lift jurors to their 



seats, and blacks and latecomers lined the halls and sidewalks outside. The prosecuting 

,Jl attorney used Washington's confession, given under unknown conditions, as the main 

evidence against him. Lawyers representing the defense declined to cross-examine any 

witnesses. Instead, they put Washington on the stand, urged him to plead guilty, and 

asked if he wished to say anything to the jury. He responded, "I ain't going to tell them 

nothing morethan what I said," and mumbled inaudibly. His lawyer finished the 

statement, adding, "He says he is sorry he did it." After deliberating for only four 

minutes, the jury found Jesse Washington guilty. 11 

15 

Before the sentence could be officially entered by Judge Richard I. Munroe, a cry 

from the crowd in the courtroom called, "Get the Nigger," and a mob seized Washington. 

The reports made by the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People 

(NAACP) suggest that Washington fought as the mob pulled him out of his seat and 

down the courthouse's back steps while beating him. Once outside, the mob stopped to 

adjust a chain around Washington's neck, then proceeded to drag him down the street, 

east, toward the bridge over the Brazos River. Here they stopped, local blacks believe, to 

send a message to the segregated black population in East Waco, and then turned toward 

the town's square. In front of city hall, people collected trash under a tree limb, while the 

town's leading photographer found an advantageous shooting location, high in the 

building, to get the crowd and the lynching on film. 12 

The crowd ripped Washington's clothes from his body and beat him with shovels, 

bricks, and clubs. The young victim prayed to God and proclaimed his innocence as his 

fingers, toes, and ears were cut from his body for souvenirs. Over 15,000 Waco citizens 

watched as the mob dipped him into the flames of the burning garbage with the chain that 
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was still around his neck. Once the charred body cooled, someone tied the chain to the 

back of a truck and drove around downtown, leaving pieces of Washington along the 

street. Law officers picked up the pieces, placed them in a bag, and tied the bag to a pole 

in Robinson. The boy's remains were buried in an unmarked grave, and it was not until 

June 1 that the city cut down the charred tree on the town square. 13 

The public burning took on characteristics of hideous social entertainment. 

Members of every class comprised the massive crowd. A newspaper reported that 

"people pressed forward, each eager to be the first to light the fire," pointing out that 

"onlookers were hanging from the windows of the city hall and every other building that 

commanded a sight of the burning . . . shouts of delight went up from thousands of 

throats and apparently everybody demonstrated in some way their satisfaction at the 

retribution." During the following weeks, children and men sold teeth, fingers, and other 

parts of Washington's body as well as pieces of the chain for twenty-five cents a link. 

The photographer sold pictures of the body and the crowd as if they depicted events at the 

Texas Cotton Palace. 14 

While national newspapers criticized the lyp_ching, local editors remained focused 

on national news of the war in Europe, the Mexican Revolution, and debates about 

preparedness. Only the Waco Semi-Weekly Tribune rebutted printed attacks on the local 

citizenry, insisting that Washington deserved to die. The NAACP began investigating the 

brutality, and confirmed the identity of several mob members. When the investigator 

asked the judge why he did not attempt to stop the mob, he replied, "Do you want to spill 

innocent blood for a nigger?" After the NAACP printed its findings in a special edition 

of The Crisis, named "The Waco Horror," the Chamber of Commerce asked the 
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photographer to remove the photos from his shop window.15 

Such sadistic brutality sent a message to the black community-"stay in your 

place or suffer the consequences." Blacks responded cautiously and relied on traditional 

methods of accommodation or migrated out of the area. Farm hands and laborers, 

economically dependent on whites, kept their disapproval silent. Instead, many quietly 

voiced subtle protest in work songs, a tradition left over from the days of slavery. Sam 

Price, a blues and jazz pianist who lived in Waco as a child at the time of the lynching, 

later remembered hearing one particular song. He recalled the words: "I never have, and 

I never will / Pick no more cotton in Robinsonville, / Tell me how long will I have to 

wait, / Can I get you now or must I hesitate?"16 

Middle-class black leaders also avoided expressing an opinion publicly and 

accommodated whites by not criticizing their actions. The most common response was 

that of Rev. John Strong, president of Central Texas College, Dr. J. Newton Jenkins, 

pastor of the New Hope Baptist Church, and others who offered regrets for Lucy Fryar' s 

death but did not mention the brutal aftermath of lynching. To trusted sources, such as 

the NAACP investigator, however, they expressed disgust with the brutality oflynching 

and whites' acceptance of it. According to the investigator, "The feeling of the colored 

people was what while they had one rotten member of their race the whites had 

15,000."17 

One black reporter, however, berated the city for injustice and barbarity in a series 

of editorials. Andrew T. Smith, the managing editor of the Paul Quinn Weekly, reported 

on the entire trial of Jesse Washington and its aftermath. He proclaimed Washington's 

innocence and blamed the woman's husband, George Fryar, for her murder. Smith called 



the mob "thirsty blood crackers" and "disgraceful." Criticizing the culture that allowed 

such barbaric practices as lynchings in the United States, he wrote, "Such a disgraceful 

hanging would not be tolerated in such civilized countries as Germany, England, Japan, 

or countries in Africa."18 

18 

Fears of more racial violence heightened whenthe Waco police arrested Smith for 

criminal libel and had him arraigned without a lawyer present in his defense. The Paul 

Quinn College denounced its managing editor's actions and tried to separate the 

institution from the situation by firing him. By defending "a rotten member of the race," 

Smith continued to stir racial tension, and, therefore, had linked himself with a more 

questionable class, which upset those who believed in Booker T. Washington's 

philosophy, including the college's leaders. The black community neither offered Smith 

aid nor attended his trial, for fear of violent repercussions. Richard D. Evans, the only 

black lawyer in Waco, volunteered his services but could do little to fight the white legal 

system, which sentenced Smith to one year at hard labor. Evans had to appeal outside the 

city to the NAACP in New York for donations to keep Smith in a cell and out of a 

convict labor gang that worked on county roads. 19 

A few months after the Smith trial, in 1917, George Fryar sued Smith's ex­

employer for $75,000 in damages caused by the newspaper article. By this time, 

however, the city had turned its energies to the war in hopes of being chosen by the 

Federal Government as an army camp location. To rehash such embarrassing events of 

the past would only jeopardize Waco's selection. The jury in Judge Erwin J. Clark's 

court found in Fryar's favor but awarded him only one dollar, a reflection of this 

attitude. 20 
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When the United States entered the Great War, white leaders in Waco focused on 

the acquisition and building of Camp MacArthur, an army training installation, and Rich 

Field, an aviation training facility, both on the outskirts of town. With the promise of an 

instant population boom of27,000 servicemen, businessmen and the Chamber of 

Commerce poured money into improving the city's appearance and services. The city 

council made over 8,000 acres available for lease in the municipality's northeastern 

section and promoted the area's more-than-adequate water supply and sewage disposal 

system. Under local pressure from one of their most successful franchises, the Texas 

Railway Company of Dallas spent over $100,000 on two trolley lines from the camp to 

the city. On July 23, the Times Herald noted that six hundred infantrymen were due to 

arrive within the week, but the editor purposefully left out the soldiers' race.21 

To guard the construction site, the United States Army transferred a black 

detachment of the Twenty-fourth Infantry from New Mexico to Waco. Many of these 

soldiers identified with the more militant philosophies ofW. E. B. Du Bois and the 

NAACP. In May and early July, riots in St. Louis, caused by retaliation of whites against 

black strike-breakers, had brought the country face to face with racial tensions. After 

reading accounts of the conflict, men of the Twenty-fourth Infantry, while in New 

Mexico, began raising money for the NAACP' s East St. Louis Refugee Fund. One 

soldier wrote to the NAACP, "[I voice] the sentiment of the entire enlisted command 

when it prays for you unlimited success in your noble fight for manhood rights of our 

people." With determination, the soldier continued, "We desire more publicity in these 

trying times when we believe that the hour has truly come when the Son of man is to be 

glorified. We stand upon the same platform as you and fight for the same principles." 
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Collectively, the three African-American battalions of the Twenty-fourth raised $147 for 

the ReliefFund.22 

Late in the evening of July 28, 1917, only weeks after the riot in St. Louis, the 

Twenty-fourth arrived in Waco to build Camp MacArthur. Because of the Washington 

lynching in 1916, the army had shown some hesitation to reassign these men to such a 

racially-taut area. But the chairman of the Waco Chamber of Commerce, James Penland, 

assured them that the soldiers would be "received in a patriotic spirit and accorded every 

consideration." The battalion arrived without event or ceremony, but instead of patriotic 

band music and crowds of flag-waving Waco citizens, Penland and local law 

enforcement met the troop train around midnight. They refused to let the men off until 6 

a.m., after the battalion commander and city officials had discussed matters of discipline 

and the need to respect Waco's segregation laws. 23 

By the end of that evening, Waco had its own riot. Perhaps fueled by the conflict 

in St. Louis or by their positions as U. S. soldiers, members of the First Battalion lashed 

out at Waco's segregation policies and harsh treatment by the police. Three hundred 

men, with passes from the Captain, walked to the red light district, movie theater, and 

bars in the black section of town. As they passed, whites spit out racial slurs and accused 

the soldiers of blocking the sidewalk. After a drug store refused them service, members 

of the regiment tore down "white only" signs wherever they could find them. The police 

patrols responded and forcibly tried to arrest soldiers on the sidewalk, breaking the finger 

of Willie Jones, a black soldier, in the process. In response to this and other reports of 

police aggression, twelve soldiers returned to the camp, armed themselves with rifles, and 

returned to the city. The police arrested the soldiers after an exchange of gunfire. 24 
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Waco and the Army reacted with restrictive rules and dishonorable discharges. 

Both agreed on new precautionary measures. The Army created new rules for issuing 

passes, conducted three roll calls a day, and restricted soldiers from gathering on the 

street in groups of more than three. The police cooperated by arresting all white 

troublemakers who might incite more racial incidents and by maintaining communication 

with the camp officers. Furthermore, city authorities shut down the red light district and 

strictly enforced ordinances that prohibited blacks from gathering in public. A court 

martial handed out dishonorable discharges to all twelve soldiers involved, and sentenced 

five of them to five years and one to ten years in the penitentiary. A month after the 

Waco incident, a deadlier riot broke out in Houston involving another battalion of the 

Twenty-fourth, which resulted in twenty-two fatalities, numerous convictions, and 

thirteen executions. 25 

As with the Washington lynching in 1916, black residents of Waco kept private , 

their opinions of the riot. Instead, they offered support to members of the First Battalion 

by providing home-cooked meals and church fellowships, and by including them in 

community activities to help them feel more at home during their brief stay. The men 

also enjoyed reserved seats to see the Waco Navigators of the Negro Baseball League. 

On August 22, the St. Paul A. M. E. Church held a formal reception for the troops in 

Taborian Park. Camp MacArthur issued hundreds of passes, and in a good-will gesture, 

the city's mayor attended. Two days later, their duty completed, the First Battalion of the 

Twenty-fourth Infantry returned to New Mexico.26 

White soldiers soon replaced the black battalion, which gave the white 

community an opportunity to focus their attention on wartime activities, instead of racial 
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tensions under the watch of the federal government. Many Wacoans held positions on 
, .. 

McLennan County's Council of Defense, formed in August of 1917, and two held 

positions on the State Council of Defense. This council coordinated war efforts at home, 

communicated war needs to local committees, encouraged local support, and enforced 

war-time policies concerning conservation, aiding soldiers, and loyalty. 27 

The McLennan County council coordinated war activities between various 

fraternal societies and service organizations, such as the American Red Cross. To protect 

the morals of these young soldiers, the Woman's Christian Temperance Union of Waco 

urged enforcement of laws to forbid the sale of alcohol to servicemen. Both the YMCA 

and the YWCA made efforts to make the camps as comfortable as possible with a 

swimming pool and a Hostess House, where soldiers found magazines, letter writing 

materials, and a pretty face. Waco native Kate Friend, president of the Texas Federation 

of Women's Clubs, coordinated soldier activities with the YWCA and helped the Council 

of Defense to reach mothers and wives in rural areas of the county. The Federal Food 

Administration organized price regulating committees and supervisory county councils to 

ensure the proper observance ofwheatless and meatless days to conserve food for the 

Allies. Families welcomed soldiers, donated money for a Liberty theater on the camp, 

and offered home cooked meals for Thanksgiving and Christmas dinner. The Waco 

Chapter of the American Red Cross knitted warm clothing and care packages for soldiers, 

trained nurses, and offered financial and emotional aid for families who depended on 

soldiers off at war. 28 

The federal government's concerns about racial tensions, however, forced locals 

to include blacks in war work. Federal government war boards feared that violence and 
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discrimination might compromise African-American wartime cooperation and patriotic 

support of war goals. In Southern states, war-related agencies had complained for 

months that northern factory recruitment of black farm hands encouraged an out­

migration of labor that endangered food and cotton production goals, and continued 

violence only contributed to the exodus. One report estimated that hundreds of black 

workers were leaving Texas daily, which left many cotton farmers short of pickers. 

Because ofthis exodus, farmers had to do more to encourage blacks to stay, and they 

replaced those already gone with Mexican migrant workers, pushed out of their country 

by revolution. Between 1910 and 1920 more than two thousand Mexicans moved to the 

Upper Brazos river valley, 45 percent of whom lived in McLennan County. By 1930, 

more than nine thousand Mexican nationals lived in the Upper Brazos River Valley.29 

Rumors of German spy activities out of Mexico heightened the urgency to create 

a more cooperative and patriotic racial atmosphere. Several German and Mexican spies, 

in the Kaiser's employment, reportedly had been seen recruiting African Americans and 

Mexican farm hands to travel to Mexico and fight against the United States. Several 
I 

spies had been caught in various parts of Texas, including the rural town of Moody, in 

South McLennan County. As a solution, the Council of National Defense pushed their 

state and county units to give blacks "a stake in the war" by including them in patriotic 

activities. The Council created advisory positions for leading national black leaders and 

encouraged similar action on state and local levels. 30 

The Texas Council of Defense never followed such recommendations. Instead, 

they merely urged county councils to contact black community leaders and convince 

them, through promises of social improvements, that their role in the war was crucial. 
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The chairman of the Council's Labor Committee, H. W. Lewis, instructed local councils 

to "tell the negroes that you are going to improve their churches . . . their sidewalks, drain 

their streets, [ and] cover the holes in their school houses." He continued, "Urge their 

leading negroes ... that the white people are going to protect them, . . . and urge that they 

use their influence with the members of their race." Lewis knew that black laborers had 

little confidence in whites' assurances, so he encouraged War Councils to appeal to their 

leaders with empty promises. One lecturer, J. R. M. Lee, however, wrote Lewis and 

suggested that real improvements in black schools and 'justice before courts," not empty 

promises, were necessary to stabilize Texas's rural labor force. Lewis found that so 

many other lecturers agreed with Lee that he informed J. F. Carl, the council's secretary, 

that some measures to improve conditions must be made to slow the exodus.31 

Many local black leaders across the state participated in Lewis's lecture program 

because they wanted to serve their country and hoped in turn that their country would 

serve them. They spoke against migration from farm areas, but also encouraged other 

war support efforts. The Federal Food Administration's appointment ofW. S. Willis, 

Grand Chancellor of the Colored Knights of Pythias, to the Negro advisory board of 

Texas encouraged many local leaders to participate in the war effort. Dr. George S. 

Conner spoke throughout the state on disease prevention to help conserve medical 

supplies for overseas soldiers. His wife, Jeffie 0. Conner, worked as a McLennan 

County Extension Agent to teach farm wives how to conserve food and preserve it 

properly. William Anderson and J. A. Kirk, both school principals, gave out information 

concerning Food Administration policies. Within Waco, county agents aided by R. L. 

Smith, L. M. Sublett, and others held meetings for farm families, organized boys into 
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com and pig clubs, and girls into canning and garden clubs. Smith, who headed the 

Farmers' Improvement Bank in Waco, also encouraged efficient farming techniques, crop 

diversification, and conservation through his Farmers' Improvement Society publication, 

The Helping Hand.32 

With approximately 850 black sons, husbands, and fathers from McLennan 

County inducted into the army, the African-American community of Waco needed little 

encouragement to aid the "fight for democracy" overseas. They organized patriotic war 

participation through their churches and fraternal societies. The Negro Odd Fellows 

Fraternal Society dedicated its 1918 annual conference to war work, with special 

attention to scientific farming and Liberty Bonds. By April, 1918, the community had 

established three auxiliaries to the Waco chapter of the Red Cross. They raised more 

than a thousand dollars in donations and collected care packages, knitted clothing, 

magazines, and other items to send to soldiers overseas and at training camps. One 

businessman even changed the name of his Excelsior Cafe to the Liberty Cafe. 33 

In early September of 1918, more than three thousand newly enlisted black 

soldiers arrived in Waco from across Texas and Oklahoma to be trained and assigned to 

companies in the 410th Labor Battalion at Camp MacArthur. These troops received the 

full attention of the black community. The Colored Soldiers' Welfare Committee and the 

Colored Knights of Pythias opened a school and volunteered teaching literacy classes at 

the camp. African-American bands, such as the Starlight Band of the New Hope Baptist 

Church, and choral groups offered entertainment and dance music at the black YMCA 

hostess house. The American Woodmen, a black fraternal society, with the cooperation 

of the white Young Men's Business League, organized a community patriotic festival in 
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Taborian Park to promote raising meat at home. Camp MacArthur granted at least one­

thousand passes to black soldiers to attend festival events, including the "Fat Pig Show," 

a canning conservation display, and a brass band dance.34 

By the time these black soldiers arrived, feelings toward accommodating whites 

had begun to change in Waco and across Texas. The spirit of cooperation and the war's 

cry for democracy empowered those who had for so long stayed quiet in the face of 

brutality and injustice. In Waco, the memory of the 1917 riot caused community concern 

for the recent arrivals stationed at the camp in 1918 and 1919. Black Wacoans felt great 

pride in the presence of the troops and made their protection a patriotic duty. After the 

YMCA house for black soldiers burned down, fraternal organizations quickly found 

alternative places for classes, entertainment, and other events held in the building. When 

those in uniform were mistreated, locals put the victims' fears above their own and 

searched out avenues for aid, often outside the state. In 1919, for example, soldiers 

confided in black businessman W. B. Lawson about an incident in which whites fired 

upon them while on duty. They told their white officers, but no investigation was 

forthcoming. When the men were fired upon again, fear for their lives increased. 

Lawson wrote to the NAACP in New York City to investigate the situation, stating, "If 

you need any other information, call upon me. I am not afraid to go after it." Lawson's 

statement exemplified the transformation of Waco's African American community, 

which emerged from the war with a more aggressive, militant philosophy toward racial 

oppression. 35 

Several black leaders throughout the state agreed with this new spirit. They 

concluded that by fighting "to keep the world safe for democracy," they would be 
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fighting for their right to participate in that democracy at home. They believed that 

patriotism and loyalty would eventually translate into better treatment and first-class 

citizenship after the war. Annual conferences of the Methodist Episcopal Church and the 

Negro Baptist Conventions encouraged support for the war as the patriotic duty of 

American citizens, but considered the extension of full citizenship the greater goal. As a 

speaker at the 1918 Negro Baptist Convention explained, "Many weary decades have 

passed over the Negro in his waiting for a new day which, to our minds, is at hand." At 

the 1918 Annual Communication, the Grand Master of the black Masons broadcasted this 

same message: "If the world is to be made safe for democracy, that will mean us too.',36 

Leaders in Waco echoed this notion. In July, 1918, at the Twelfth Annual Session 

of the Texas Negro Business League, Wacoan president R. L. Smith and other business 

leaders participated in a discussion on "The Fight for Our Rights in the Texas Courts. 

Has the Time Come for the United Negro, Led by Our Business Men, to Make It?" Other 

speeches included "In Places Bought by Public Funds from which Negroes are Excluded, 

What Steps Can Be Taken to Secure the Rights to Enjoy these Privileges, if WE Have 

any Rights at All?" W. · L. Davis, a Houston businessman and newspaperman, echoed 

state-wide sentiments in his speech on "The Great War--the Negro's Opportunity to 

Prove Up His Claim For a Man's Place in Democracy.'' On the second day of the 

conference, the League's leadership devoted an entire afternoon to "considering the 

feasibility of organizing the Negro citizenship of Texas into a body to make a united 

effort to secure justice in the courts of the land." The war had given birth to a new spirit 

that demanded change. 37 

Waco's leadership, both black and white, had many reasons to comply with the 
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Federal Government's patriotic war agenda, which included at least lip service to racial 

cooperation on the home front. First, city officials felt a greater responsibility to war 

efforts because of the government's constant presence at Camp MacArthur and Rich 

Field. Second, the production of war-promoted agricultural products, such as cotton and 

foodstuffs, depended on retaining black laborers, many of whom had migrated North in 

search of less violence, greater freedom, and better wages. Finally, the perceived threat 

of enemy infiltration, through the recruitment of poor and discontented farm hands, 

demanded efforts to keep the home front safe. Greater goals of political equality, beyond 

"keeping the world safe for democracy," motivated African Americans to participate in 

war activities. Many gained new self-confidence and a greater sense of self-importance 

through their war work. They saw World War I as an opportunity to prove to whites, and 

to themselves, that they, too, deserved greater freedom. As fighting ended and peace 

conferences began in Europe, blacks had moved away from a strict accommodation 

philosophy, gained a more assertive attitude toward civil rights, and were ready to push 

for greater political rights. 
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CHAPTER II 

THE FIGHT FOR DEMOCRACY COMES HOME: 
DISMANTLING THE CITY'S WHITE PRIMARY 

Increased political activism among Afro-Texans, a product of their patriotic role 

in the war, took on many forms throughout the state, all in an effort to gain self­

determination and greater civil rights. Aggressive leaders used stories from returning 

black soldiers and established civic-boosting and political rights organizations, such as 

NAACP chapters and local, grass-roots groups, to motivate their community to organize 

resistance to their second-class status. This activism in Waco culminated in 1919, when 

the Forum, a literary and civic organization, successfully challenged the local Democratic 

white primary in court. Their success, although only temporary, helped foster this 

growing "New Negro" assertiveness in Texas and created renewed hope for even greater 

equality in the future. 

This new assertiveness developed in Texas through the growth of the NAACP 

after the war. In 1918, the NAACP claimed more than twenty-three hundred members in 

twelve Texas cities, including San Antonio, Fort Worth, Beaumont, Houston, Dallas, 

Galveston, and Austin. Early work of these branches included campaigns to ban the 

racist film "Birth of a Nation," boycotts of businesses that treated black customers 

harshly, and letter campaigns that drew attention to racist treatment of soldiers. The 

Houston branch convinced a Harris County court that black women had the right to 

register to vote after Texas granted women limited suffrage in 1918. In Waco, African-
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American leaders decided to push the political envelope even further. 1 

On February 24, 1919, the headline, "Negroes Seek Court's Aid to Vote in 

Primary Election February 18," appeared in the Waco Times Herald. The newspaper 

reported that Louis M. Sublett, an African-American grocer in Waco, and other 

petitioners had filed for an injunction in McLennan county's Nineteenth District Court to 

prohibit the city Democratic executive committee from enforcing its white primary rule 

in the upcoming election. In Sublett v. Duke, as the article noted, "The applicants 

contend that this operates to disfranchise the negro race; that it is arbitrary and 

unreasonable." Apparently confident that the injunction would be denied, however, the 

article emphasized that "negroes have not been permitted to vote in primary elections 

here in the past. "2 

The petition had been filed against the city Democratic executive committee, 

which had passed a resolution that the local primary would be open to whites only. This 

resolution, passed every year since the installation of the local primary system, had 

become so common place that the newspapers did not bother to report it after the January 

executive committee meeting. Instead, news of a resolution allowing women to vote in 

the primary, due to their patriotic war service, demanded the paper's attention. Perhaps 

this report convinced local black leaders, who had also aided the war efforts, to challenge 

this local tool of political repression. Sublett, Dr. J. C. Russell, W. B. Lawson, and 

Henry Waite, all named as plaintiffs in the injunction petition, had served on various war 

committees and encouraged public support for the war. These men had aided the fight 

for democracy in Eµrope; now, they decided to fight for their democracy at home. 3 

Before 1919 several black individuals had attempted to vote at polling places, and 
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others had made formal requests to the executive committee not to bar blacks from 

voting, but with no success. Sublett, Russell, Lawson, and Waite, all members of a grass­

roots, African-American political organization called the Forum, quietly organized a legal 

assault on the primary. In January, 1919, the Forum held mass meetings in every black 

section of town to encourage political participation through the formation of Good . 

Government Clubs and payment of the poll tax. Perhaps due to previous ineffective 

attempts to vote by the black community, the organization's initial attempt to mobilize 

black voters failed to grab the attention of local whites. 4 

Whites reacted to news of the Forum's legal petition with little concern as well. 

The newspaper editor placed the injunction story on page five, not the front page. 

Waco's Jim Crow laws, as well as a long history ofracial violence, had firmly 

established white supremacy in the city. Whites also had confidence in Judge Erwin J. 

Clark, who had been appointed to the Nineteenth District Court a month earlier. Clark 

came from a family of strong Southern Democrats. His father, George W. Clark, an 

Alabama Confederate Army veteran, had served as attorney general and secretary of state 

of Texas in the 1880s, and ran as the conservative Democratic gubernatorial candidate in 

the general election of 1892 against Democrat Jim Hogg. Erwin Clark, born and raised in 

Waco, had practiced law with his father, and served as judge of the Seventy-fourth 

District court until he resigned to join the U.S. Army during World War I. Based on 

Clark's heritage, locals felt sure that he would quash the African Americans' legal 

attempt to vote in the city's white primary. 5 

On February 15, the day after Sublett, Forum chairman, filed his petition, Judge 

Clark heard arguments from both sides. Richard D. Evans, a Yale graduate and the only 
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black lawyer in Waco, represented the plaintiffs. He presented a simple case of 

discrimination based on race, arguing that the executive committee's white man's 

democratic primary resolution "practically deprive[ d] the colored race and these plaintiffs 

of the right of suffrage, purely on the ground that they are not white people." Evans 

insisted that this resolution violated Texas election laws (which did not specifically bar 

blacks from voting in state primaries), the state constitution, Federal statutes, and the U.S. 

Constitution on grounds that it "take[ s] away the free will of the voter to cast his vote for 

any candidate for city offices who may be running on the democratic ticket." He 

requested that the injunction be made perpetual. 6 

The executive committee's legal team, led by 0. L. Stribling, contested the 

petition on two grounds. They argued that it never stated that the plaintiffs belonged to 

the Democratic Party, a requirement to vote in the party's primary. Stribling added that 

since the local party was a private organization that used the primary as its nominating 

tool, the local primary did not fall under any state election laws. He contended that 

Waco's City Charter, adopted under the 1913 Texas Legislature's "Home Rule 

Provision," made no specification for the nomination of city office candidates through 

holding primary elections, which in tum allowed the Democratic executive committee, 

not the city, to control the primary. Essentially, Stribling insisted that an election not 

sanctioned by the state could not violate state laws. With a brief less than two pages 

long, the defense team viewed the case as an easy challenge. 7 

Judge Clark disagreed with the defense's argument, however, and, to the surprise 

of many, issued a perpetual injunction that allowed blacks to vote in Waco's future 

Democratic primaries. Expecting the predictable unpopularity of his ruling, Clark wrote 



39 

a lengthy decision in which he drew support from precedent court decisions, the Terrell 

election law, and the Texas and U.S. Constitutions. He began his opinion with the 

preamble to the U. S. Constitution, which recalled the patriotic air of recent war times. It 

served as a reminder that the court had to adhere to constitutional principles and their 

spirit. Clark then emphasized the decisiveness of primary elections in Texas, and all of 

the South, in his interpretation of a previous case, Solon v. Texas. This decision had 

established that "a right to vote in the primary election of this state was a valuable right, 

and that a citizen deprived of such right unreasonably and without the sanction of the law 

would be entitled to redress in the courts." Clark applied this to the local level, 

interpreting as "unreasonable" such exclusions based on race, and he ruled that the white 

primary violated the Fifteenth Amendment. 8 

Next, Judge Clark tackled Stribling's argument of whether or not the local 

primary was a state-sanctioned election. Since the primary abided by the Terrell election 

regulations, including a poll tax requirement, the use of a ballot box, and other 

stipulations, Clark concluded that the primary was a state-sanctioned election. He argued 

that the executive committee did not have the right to disfranchise on the basis of race 

because the voting regulations of general elections control the right of suffrage in 

primaries, too. Also, based on Solon v. Texas, he stressed that every citizen authorized by 

the Constitution has the right to vote, and that the legislature cannot take that right away. 

The legislature has the power only to regulate suffrage. Concerning Waco's City 

Charter, Clark concluded that neither the absence of a specific provision nor a 

specification for a white primary allowed for the denial of suffrage based on race.9 

Finally, Judge Clark addressed the anticipated opposition of his fellow local white 
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Southerners. He appealed to their understanding by touting his own Southern pride and 

by pointing out the difficulty of his decision: "The times are indeed hard when a judicial 

officer will permit his judgments and his decrees to be influenced by his personal 

prejudices or popular whim." He continued, "I am proud of my heritage of the South, but 

as long as I preside on this bench my personal feelings and prejudices will have no 

weight whatsoever with my judgement." The opinion, ahead of its time but contrary to 

Southern practice, came only two days before the primary election. With the election two 

days away, the Democratic executive committee, lacking sufficient time to appeal, 

grudgingly opened the election to blacks. 10 

The next day, news of Clark's decision dominated the front page of the Waco 

Times Herald. The newspaper explained the ruling in the two consecutive issues before 

the election, and reported that the executive committee planned no appeal. As if to warn 

white voters, it called attention to an expected high turnout by black voters at the polls. 11 

Members of the Forum planned to oblige white expectations. A week after 

forming Good Government Clubs in all six city wards, the organization passed a motion 

to form a local branch of the National Association for the Advancement of Colored 

People. The Dallas Express, an African-American newspaper, vividly expressed the 

excitement felt by Waco blacks, "The Forum is doing much good. Long live the Forum .. 

. . 'To the Polls' is the Slogan."12 

Despite black enthusiasm, media accounts reported that few blacks voted. 

Depending on the accuracy of the account, several reasqns might explain the poor voter 

tum-out. Word of the legal decision or its meaning may have reached only a small 

percentage of the black population, considering the short time span between the court 
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decision and the election. Primarily middle-class citizens made up the Good Government 

Clubs, as well as the Forum, which failed to include rural or lower-class blacks, who 

often could not afford the poll tax, in its political activities. Others may have not paid the 

poll tax before the deadline in late January, before the court case·:~ In light of Waco's 

racially violent history, intimidation or fear of retaliation, however, probably contributed 

heavily to the small tum-out of voters.13 

Internal differences plagued Waco's black community in the general city election 

in March, 1919. Divisions among black leaders over whether to support a black 

Republican candidate for city commissioner split the black vote. Forum leaders, after 

their recent legal success, feared political or violent reprisals if black constituents 

demanded too much at once. L. M. Sublett and others now softened their aggressive 

challenge to the primary with accommodationist rhetoric. Sublett publicly spoke out 

against the election of an African American, saying, "I ... do not intend to antagonize 

[white people's] interests. One of the district courts here recently just upheld ... that we 

have a right to vote in primary elections, ... and I intend to cooperate with the white 

people in aiding them to select the men they believe best fitted to hold public office." He 

continued, "I want to live in peace with the southern white people, who have been our 

true friends, and I will do everything possible to prevent that which will tend to disturb or 

disrupt the kindly feeling that they have manifested for us."14 

Despite weak black political representation in the 1919 local primary, the Sublett 

v. Duke decision gave strength to the growing hope and determination of African 

Americans in Waco and other areas of Texas. News of the legal victory spread quickly in 

black newspapers and even gained notice in the Tuskegee lnstitute's Negro Yearbook. 
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Since the war, newspapers such as the Dallas Express, Houston's Texas Freeman and the 

Western Star had been the voices of blacks' new assertiveness. They challenged blacks 

to pull themselves out of submission and fight for their own democracy. When Waco 

answered the challenge, their message gained greater legitimacy with Afro-Texans. Later 

that year, C. F. Richardson started the Houston Informer, a militant black newspaper that 

encouraged its readers to pay their poll taxes and fight for equality. The NAACP used 

this grass-roots fervor and militancy to increase its membership. In 1919, NAACP 

membership in the South surpassed membership in the North. By the end of the year, 

more than five-thousand Texans and twenty-one new chapters in the state joined the 

organization, including ones in Temple, Marlin, Mart, and other towns around Waco. 

Waco's own chapter grew from fifty-six charter members to ninety-nine by the end of the 

year. 15 

Black Wacoans worked to raise political awareness around the state. Members of 

the Good Government Clubs spoke to various African-American groups throughout the 

state, and fed blacks' growing assertiveness and infused it with new hope and 

determination. At one such gathering, dubbed "a meeting of political soldiers" by the 

Dallas Express, Wacoan Dr. Arthur Jackson spoke to the Good Government Association 

of Dallas. Although he denied that he sought social equality, he claimed that blacks' role 

in World War I earned them the right to a "square deal." Jackson told his audience: "Any 

time a foreign foe lifts its hand to strike down the free institutions of America, they will 

find the black boy at the gate with a sword." Jackson's statement referred not only to 

African Americans' right to first-class citizenship, but also to the recent injunction in 

Waco. In his discussion of the recent legal victory, he proclaimed "that a new day is 
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dawning for the American Negro." Word also spread through state organizations such as 

the Texas Negro Business League and the Knights and Daughters of Tabor, both of 

which held that year's annual meetings in the Waco area. 16 

This new hope for democracy and first-class citizenship brought on by the war 

resulted in violent clashes throughout the nation and in Texas during the summer of 1919. 

In June and July, race riots broke out in Chicago, Washington, D. C., and Longview, 

Texas, and mobs lynched men in Longview and Gilmer, Texas. After the Longview race 

riot, Texas governor William Hobby ordered the Texas Rangers to investigate suspected 

radical black activities in the state's cotton region, including Waco. Hobby believed that 

black newspapers and NAACP members caused the Longview riot, and urged the 

Rangers to prepare local law enforcement for more racial trouble. In August, Texas 

officials attacked the NAACP directly when a Travis county judge and a constable beat 

John Shillady, the national organization's white executive secretary, outside the attorney 

general's office in Austin. Governor Hobby publicly condoned the beating, insisting that 

"Shillady was the only offender." 17 

Within a few weeks, violence reached Waco when officers thwarted a mob's 

attempt to hang a seventeen-year-old black man with barbed wire for allegedly 

threatening to shoot two white girls. During the summer of 1919, this·attempted lynching 

marked the only racially motivated outrage in McLennan County that was reported in 

newspapers, and it had no apparent connection with the legal victory over the white 

primary. The officers' effort to stop the mob suggests that some Wacoans' attitudes 

toward lynchings may have changed since Jesse Washington's lynching in 1916. The 

mob's action, however, reflected the same growing white frustrations that ignited 
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violence elsewhere in the state. Whites feared that the growing militancy and 

assertiveness among blacks threatened the traditional Southern social structure and 

endangered racial purity. One local paper even dubbed the NAACP as "the Association 

for Inter-Racial Relations."18 

Despite few reported incidents of racial violence that summer, the area's history 

suggests that the Forum's actions probably brought unreported threats, whitecapping, and 

other forms of intimidation from the white community. According to the NAACP' s 

national membership files, Waco's chapter had lost all of its members by the end of 1920. 

After the Shillady incident in 1919, many Texas chapters either gradually disbanded or 

went underground to avoid a similar fate for their members. Blacks sustained local 

militancy in Waco, however, by circulating a petition reaffirming that the "last war made 

[blacks] the equals of the white race, .and that this stand must be enforced." One Waco 

leader, Reverend A. A. Lucas, encouraged action even in the face of violence, 

emphasizing that since blacks "had to die as examples, let them die for something." In 

retaliation, whites warned Lucas that "unless he ceased his meddling into local 

conditions, the city could not be responsible for what happened to him." If any violence 

related to the primary case did occur in Waco that summer, however, the local 

newspapers chose notto report it. 19 

Not all black leaders agreed with Lucas. Those who had depended on-Booker T. 

Washington's philosophy of accommodation counseled blacks to be patient in the face of 

racial tensions, fearing that the militant pursuit of equality would undermine the ideals of 

self-help and work to the detriment of racial uplift. In November, 1919, at the Farmers' 

Improvement Society's annual meeting, Robert L. Smith, the society's president and 
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founder, stated, "The times in which we live are the most critical that the race has 

encountered since emancipation for the spirit of the white people does not seem as cordial 

as it had been heretofore." He added that, with "prudence and patience," racial tensions 

in Waco would pass. Although he did not mention blacks' newly found political power, 

Smith discouraged increased militancy by emphasizing the traditional self-help doctrine. 

He admitted that the attitudes of whites did not concern him as much "as our attitude 

toward the great underlying basic principles of racial progress. The race has to correctly 

value steady industry, self-reliance, economy, self-mastery; it must learn to wait, for in 

the end, mankind usually get what they deserve. "20 

Threats of violence and accommodationist rhetoric did not deter many blacks, 

however, from mobilizing for primary elections in 1920. In January, 1920, the local 

NAACP, which still existed, held a public rally to urge community members to pay their 

poll taxes before the January 31 deadline. Three black labor unions in Waco also 

encouraged poll tax payment. At the NAACP meeting, presidents of the two local black 

colleges and petitioners in Sublett v. Duke explained the power of their mass vote in an 

attempt to avoid a loss similar to the one the year before. Black leaders also had to 

inform voters of the Waco Democratic executive committee's devious resolution to 

schedule two democratic primaries, on February 14 and March 3, in hopes that blacks' 

interest in the election would decline after the first primary, thus increasing the white 

vote in the second primary. 21 

Other white leaders recognized the importance of the black vote as well. The 

editor of the Waco Times Herald again warned whites, "The rush at the court house 

yesterday afternoon to pay poll taxes was very pronounced, and . . . interesting . . . was 
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the number of negroes who secured poll tax receipts for 1920 ... .It is believed that the 
:i· 

negroes are prepared to vote this year, and vote strong." Instead of viewing black 

mobilzation as a threat, however, several Democratic primary candidates saw the 

African-American bloc vote as an opportunity to win office. L. M. Sublett invited all the 

candidates to speak at a meeting sponsored by the Good Government Clubs in 

predominantly black East Waco. He even reserved a special segregated seating area for 

• whites who planned to attend. Five commissioner candidates, both mayoral runners, and 

even the city democratic executive committee chairman, E. L. Duke, gave speeches and 

discussed community concerns regarding unfair police tactics, school improvements, and 

better water drainage. The need for the latter two had become glaringly clear when only 

a month before, service wagons had to ferry neighborhood children from school to dry 

land when rain run-off caused flooding around the building. 22 

On election day, February 14, about seven hundred black men and women voted, 

nearly ten per cent of Waco's African American population in 1920. Only a few were 

turned away for not having a poll tax receipt. All but three of the candidates endorsed by 

the black election wards won. 23 

The importance of the African-American community's vote in the first primary of 

1920 became the focus of debate during the second primary campaign a few weeks later. 

Some Democrats tried to convince black Republicans to switch parties by claiming that 

the Republican opposition was abandoning black voters when "the negroes do not vote to 

suit him." Within the Democratic Party, battle lines had been drawn along pro- or anti­

City Manager plans, and, as a group, blacks had voted against the plan and its proponent 

candidates. In response, the City Manager ticket protested black participation in the 
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upcoming primary on March 3. The "Anti" Ticket used this to strengthen their appeal to 

black voters. One advertisement characterized their Democratic rivals as "dumb as 

oysters'' to the needs of the "colored brother."24 

The split in the local Democratic Party, traditionally a white organization, caused 

many loyal party members to blame blacks for the chaos. With these charges, the white 

primary case became the central issue in a Democratic mudslinging contest. During the 

last week before the second primary on March 3, those involved in Sublett v. Duke 

defended themselves in a series of letters that explained the facts of the case, including 

the executive committee's legal inability to bar blacks from voting. E.L. Duke, the city 

Democratic executive committee chairman, answered attacks on the committee for not 

taking action to reverse the decision. He responded that, according to his lawyer, the 

injunction was perpetual, and that the committee therefore could not bar blacks from 

voting in any future election. Duke's lawyer followed this response with his own letter 

reiterating Judge Erwin Clark's decision. Clark also responded directly, insisting that his 

decision was based solely on the law. He claimed neutrality in the political factionalism, 

and essentially removed himself from any intimation that he was to blame. 25 

The black community answered whites' rising bitterness and animosity toward the 

year-old court decision and their political participation with proclamations of Democratic 

Party loyalty in the local newspaper. One such letter patriotically, perhaps mockingly, 

professed, "We could be nothing more than democrats; even by birth we were born on a 

democratic soil, raised a democrat, and taught the democratic principle, and have 

complied with all of its laws and even suffered their lynchers' rope and coal oil can." R. 

D. Evans, plaintiff counsel in Sublett v. Duke, encouraged all blacks to vote and 
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participate, whether in the Democratic primary or later at the Republican convention. In 

a message to both races, he noted Waco's need for black labor because of the number of 

lives lost at war and because of black migration to northern cities. Then he proposed to 

whites, "How are you going to keep. them down here if you keep giving them the blues in 

affairs like this? Let them vote their conviction and let the result take care of itself."26 

Three days before the second primary, the Anti-City Manager candidates and L. 

M. Sublett led a political rally in East Waco to get people to the polls. They feared that 

their political opponents planned to patrol each polling station, armed with 

misinformation, to intimidate voters and challenge party membership. This action 

threatened the black voters' power and an Anti-City Manager victory. Sublett passed 

around a sample ballot and explained how to vote. Several white members of the "Anti" 

faction explained qualifications and emphasized African-Americans' right to vote as 

Democrats. The only test of party affiliation, according to Texas law, was to state, "I am 

a Democrat and pledge myself to support the nominee of this party" to the election judge. 

By informing constituents, Sublett hoped to establish confidence at the polls and prevent 

the other faction's representatives from turning voters away. The effort proved 

successful. The Anti-City Manager candidates won offices across the board, and party 

officials pointed to the importance of black participation in the outcome. Neither Evans, 

a Republican, nor Judge Clark voted in the city primary.27 

The overwhelming black voter turnout proved detrimental, however, to African­

American representation in the Republican Party's McLennan County convention. At the 

county convention in early May, 1920, the chairman, who was leader of the local Lily­

Whites, disqualified black delegates from Waco on grounds they allegedly had voted in 
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the city's Democratic primary. Led by Sam Rose and R. D. Evans, along with other 

blacks and sympathetic whites, a larger faction of Republicans called the Black and Tans 

bolted and held their own convention. When the state convention in San Antonio later 

refused to recognize the delegates, members of the Black and Tan faction bolted again 

and nominated their own representatives to the Republican National Convention in 

Chicago. Evans, also known as "Judge" in honor of his legal triumph in the Sublett case, 

W. L. Davis, a professor and newspaper editor in Houston, and several other African­

American state leaders attended, but they failed to gain representation at the Republican 

National Convention in Illinois. 28 

Increasing Lily-White control over the Republican party forced many blacks to 

look elsewhere for more political power. Because of success in Sublett v. Duke, some 

hoped for a future with the Democrats. W. L. Davis, like Sublett, had gained rejuvenated 

hope and confidence from blacks' role in World War I, during which he had served as 

secretary of the executive board of the Negro Division of the Federal Food 

Administration. Davis, through his newspaper, the Western Star, and Charles N. Love, 

editor of the Texas Freeman, had urged black Houstonians to pay their poll tax and vote 

since 1919.29 

In early 1921, two years after the Waco case, Davis and Love spearheaded their 

own legal action against Houston's local white primary elections to "fight for recognition 

and a voice in government." The plaintiffs retained R. D. Evans, because of his earlier 

success, to reproduce similar results in their city. But Houston judges failed to share the 

point of view of Waco's court. Upon appeal, the state Supreme Court dismissed the case, 

determining that it concerned an injunction for only one specific election and that it was 
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therefore irrelevant since the date for that election had passed. The Court, however, 

questioned the constitutionality of the Democratic executive committee's white primary 

rule, statirig that if the case had come before the Court, "it would present a grave question 

of Constitutional law." Although Love, Davis, and Evans lost that day in ·court, their 

efforts gained the attention of the NAACP, which took up the fight against Texas's white 

. primary laws until achieving victory in the Smith v. Al/wright case in 1944.30 

The Dallas Express referred to this post-World War I political activism in Texas 

as the "New Spirit." On June 19, 1920, the anniversary of slave emancipation in Texas, 

the McLennan County American Woodmen and the Forum sponsored the county's 

largest Emancipation Day festivities in fifteen years to celebrate both freedom from 

slavery and newly-won full suffrage in Waco. Attendees rejoiced in their recent 

successful strides for freedom. In a high school program, five hundred childre~ s_ang 

"America," and orators read the Emancipation Proclamation. Other festivities included a 

grand street parade with a "progress'' theme and free barbecue. The presence of 

successful Wacoan Jules Bledsoe, an opera singer in New York and nephew ofR. L. 

Smith, only heightened the "New Spirit" ·at the celebration.31 

The black community, with the ballot in hand, saw progress in the future. Their 

influence during the election had encouraged city leaders to respond to their needs, even 

after the polls closed. In May, 1920, the city began repairs to rain-damaged streets near 

East Waco schools. City officials also granted permission for the June 19th parade and 

appointed two black policemen for the day's celebration. By the end of the year, East 

Waco had seen some progress, including the formation of the Negro Harding and 

Coolidge Club, a new girls' dormitory at Paul Quinn College, and plans for a local 
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African-American branch of the Texas A & M college extension service and a new city­

funded playground for black children. The Forum continued to push city officials for a 

new high school building and land allotment for an elderly and wayward girls' home. In 

December, blacks from East Waco won a suit against the city to prevent the use ofland 

near their water well for a cemetery. 32 

Black militancy, plus a shortage in farm labor, however, frustrated the white 

community. Blacks continued to push racial boundaries. In July, 1920, a black woman, 

sitting in a streetcar's white section, did not move to the back when a white woman 

entered the car, as was the custom. When the white woman asked the streetcar driver to · 

tell the black woman to move, he replied that a city ordinance prevented him from doing 

so, since other seats in the white section were available. The incident, unfortunately, 

brought the ordinance to the attention of city commissioners, who found that it 

contradicted state law, and changed it immediately to ensure strict segregation. 33 

A shortage of cotton pickers, due to black migration to the North, plus a drop in 

cotton prices increased whites' frustrations even more. To harvest the 1920 crop, county 

officials organized a campaign that encouraged city-dwellers to volunteer labor. 

Organizers used war-time rhetoric to encourage Wacoans to pick cotton. They publicized 

"pick-nics" on farms, where city-dwellers could lunch outside and spend a day "in the 

fresh air and sunshine. . . [in] patriotic service." The Chamber of Commerce shaped the 

campaign to make emergency farm labor a duty oflocal whites. They praised "four well­

dressed women of Aryan descent, 100 per cent American and white as Castile soap [who] 

volunteered their services ... to save the banner crop of the South." School principals 

even encouraged children to contribute labor by starting the school year two weeks late.34 
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The agricultural depression only increased the strength of radical movements in 

Texas, and fears that they might attract African Americans contributed to racial 

uneasiness. A strong Socialist movement, led by E. 0. Meitzen and T. A. Hickey, had 

moved through Texas's rural areas before World War I. Hickey recruited new members 

by publicizing tenant farmers' plight in Meitzen's newspaper, The Rebel, in Hallettsville, 

Texas. Although the U.S. government shut the newspaper down during World War I, 

Meitzen continued to organize farmers. His son organized a chapter of the Nonpartisan 

League and established its headquarters in Waco during the war. In 1920, McLennan 

County had 3750 tenant farmers, of whom more than one thousand were black. Even 

though racism also divided the Socialist movement in Texas, conservative whites had 

associated Socialist organizations with violence and chaos and feared that radicals 

organizing black tenant farmers would threaten democracy and white supremacy. 35 

A rise in crime throughout the city, as reported by the Waco Times Herald, 

increased the fears of the white upper- and middle class because it reinforced impressions 

that society was becoming chaotic and that social controls were growing ineffective. 

Most white citizens blamed blacks in the "criminal class," and police arrested black men 

disproportionately for violating Prohibition laws. The police discovered several 

distilleries in East and South Waco, as well as in rural areas of the county. In one well­

publicized case, two African-American undertakers were caught transporting alcohol in 

coffins that were supposed to be carrying soldiers who had died of influenza. The court 

sentenced them to ten months in jail and two thousand dollars in fines. 36 

Clearly, the progress achieved by blacks in the political arena in 1919 failed to 

bring equal treatment in the court system. Courts continued to sentence blacks to pay 



53 

higher fines and serve longer jail terms than whites who committed the same crime. Of 

those who violated the Volstead Act, the enforcement bill of Prohibitio~ blacks typically 

served up to ten months in jail and paid fines ranging from one hundred to two hundred 

dollars, whereas whites usually paid fines of fifty to one-hundred dollars and spent either 

no time or just a couple of months in jail cells. 37 

The newspaper also reported a higher incidence of black crimes against whites in 

the summer of 1920. In early June, for example, a black man allegedly attacked a little 

white girl in Bosqueville, near Waco. After catching the assailant, the police removed 

the suspect from the county. In a similar incident in Waco, a young boy hit a fourteen­

year-old girl and was arrested. Police transported two other black males to an unnamed 

jail after arresting them for knifing a streetcar conductor. Adding to frustrations, the state 

Board of Pardons wrote to the sheriff about a black male prisoner who, in 1905, had been 

sentenced to one thousand and one years in the penitentiary by the McLennan County 

Court. The Board asked if the man should be pardoned because he had been a good 

prisoner. The sheriff disapproved ofa pardon because the man had been convicted of the 

rape and attempted murder of a white woman. Within two weeks the prisoner escaped 

from prison but was caught soon after. 38 

In other cases, black-on-black crime and white-on-black crime continued to draw 

lesser sentences than black-on-white crime. For example, a white man shot and killed a 

black man in Sand Town, a poor, racially mixed section of Waco inhabited by mostly 

unskilled workers and vagrants. The court released him on a bond of one-thousand 

dollars, which he paid immediately. Police failed to investigate either the murder or why 

the man had such a large amount of cash with him at the time of his arrest. The alleged 
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murderer claimed he that shot in self-defense, and the police dropped all charges. This 

incident, however, failed to incite protest from the Forum or other politically active 

middle-class blacks. They probably saw the victim, a Sand Town inhabitant, as a lower­

class outsider and possibly a criminal, and therefore avoided any association with such 

individuals who "dragged down the race. "39 

Many whites joined social organizations that might help them reestablish a sense 

of social control. Veterans formed the Law and Order Legion to help the police 

department find and fight crime. Another group created the Waco Law and Order 

League, which pushed for enforcement of laws, such as Sunday blue laws and 

Prohibition. To discourage radical views, the mayor set aside the date of April 21, 1920, 

to celebrate American Day witli parades that demonized Communist and Socialist 

activities. Waco formed a chapter of the United Americans, an organization which 

vowed to fight Socialism. The Y. W. C. A. and Y. M. C. A. planned a "Southern" 

municipal Christmas tree celebration that, according to the newspaper, harkened back to a 

"time when the darkies came to the big house, to exclaim 'Christmas gift' to ole massa 

and ole missis." The Times Herald again reminded readers of days when racial 

boundaries were more defined. It printed an 1861 docume_nt, recently found at the 

courthouse, that established county patrols to look for "unlawful assemblages" of blacks. 

The article noted that the document "explained itself," but added: "Some of our people 

who lived in the pre-war period will doubtless recall the old song with chorus, "Run, 

nigger, run, Patrol '11 git you." Clearly, whites in Waco felt the loss of traditional 

Southern social order and longed to return to the racial controls of the past.40 

The success of black political activism in Waco, best illustrated by Sublett v. 



Duke, only strengthened the·new post-war assertiveness of blacks, and gave hope that 

they could use their new political voice to improve their neighborhoods and schools. 
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This push for change caused whites to push back to restore Southern social and racial 

control. A new version of an old organization, the Ku Klux Klan, arrived in Texas in late 

1920 and provided an outlet for whites' frustrations. The organization's mere presence 

intimidated many blacks who remembered the days of Reconstruction or had heard 

stories of Klan violence from parents and grandparents. These stories lived in the oral 

traditions of the community, as did images of Jesse Washington's burned body hanging 

in front of city hall. African Americans knew that white Wacoans did not need such an 

organization to commit acts of racial violence, and that the Klan's presence would only 

make their road to justice and equality more difficult.41 
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CHAPTER ID 

"100 PER-CENT AMERICANISM'': 
THE KU KLUX KLAN AND THE RETURN OF THE WHITE PRIMARY 

In 1920, the Invisible Empire came to Texas and spread through both urban and 

rural areas. The organization built its post-World War tenets on common racial, 

religious, and cultural prejudices, and, by doing so, it attracted many mainstream middle­

class white Protestants. The moralistic fervor that had driven many progressive reform 

movements and defined the patriotism of the war combined with the vigilante spirit that 

had prevailed so long in the South to shape Klan activism in the state. In Waco, 

membership included respected businessmen, government officials, and professionals, all 

white Protestant men who joined for several different reasons. Some felt a responsibility 

to enforce moral standards against drinking, using drugs, and prostitution in order to 

protect society. Others found the social atmosphere and business connections of the 

organization appealing. Finally, others sensed that society was growing more chaotic in 

the face of increased crime, labor unrest, women's greater sexual freedom, the "New 

Negro Spirit," and greater black political activism. They joined the KKK, the 

organization that their fathers and grandfathers used to recapture the South after the Civil 

War, to reestablish that sense of control. 1 

The new Klan, a secret, fraternal-type society that was formed in 1915 in Atlanta, 

Georgia, drew on nativist, anti-Semitic, anti-Catholic, racist beliefs-common attitudes 
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of contemporary whites-and promised to safeguard the sexual purity and traditional 

social role of women. The organization's growth remained moderate until after the Great 

War, when feelings of disillusionment, the Red Scare, and fear of losing racial and social 

control swept the United States. After a national crimewave and the tumultuous Red 

Summer of 1919, the Klan portrayed themselves as protectors of constitutional law and 

moral order. They added lawbreakers, such as bootleggers and wife-beaters, to their list 

of enemies, which included blacks, immigrants, Jews, and Catholics. Texans established 

their first chapter, or klavern, of the new Klan in Houston in September of 1920, called 

Sam Houston Klan No. 1. In a ripe environment, klaverns spread quickly across the 

state. In late 1920, Dallas residents joined No. 66.2 

When the KKK first came to Waco to form Saxet No. 33 is not known because of 

the organization's secretive nature. Evidence suggests, however, that the group 

established itself in early February of 1921, prior to the upcoming local primary. Often 

Klan organizers used other secretive societies, such as the Masons, to recruit members. 

On February 3, H. Thomas, grand senior warden of the Masonic grand lodge, and Dr. 

Hiram W. Evans, another Mason, both of Dallas, met with their fraternal brothers in 

Waco to discuss, according to the local newspaper, the formation of a new Masonic 

organization. After this meeting, the new group signed up four hundred new members. 

By the end of the year, Dr. Evans had worked his way up to the top of Texas's Klan 

hierarchy. On February 16, an editorial appeared in a local newspaper entitled "Race 

pride is Essential," which quoted scripture and emphasized the need for whites to 

maintain racial control. The new Klan had reached Waco.3 

Houston's Klan No. I heralded its presence by marching through the city in 
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October of 1920, and Dallas's White Knights sent an ominous note to the Dallas Express 

in February of 1921, and held their own parade in May. In June of 1921, the Saxet No. 

33 made its presence known in Waco, not by parade or newspaper notice, but by its first 

violent act. In the early morning hours of June 7, 1921, masked men assaulted and 

attempted to kidnap Kennedy Cummings, a white man who had been warned by the Klan 

to leave town for selling dope to Baylor University students. The masked men left 

Cummings in the street after they were fired upon by Cummings' s wife. A month later, 

however, the masked men successfully kidnapped Cummings, tarred and feathered him, 

and dumped him in front of City Hall with a sign that read, "This is a sample-evil doers 

and pro-Germans beware-100 per cent Americans. Ku Klux Klan." Later that day, 

police officers arrested four men for whitecapping, a felony, but they also charged 

Cummings and his wife with vagrancy and disturbing the peace. 4 

The fate ofCummings's assailants revealed the popularity of the Klan in Waco. 

Three of the four men arrested, W. L. Edmond, Bowden Hays Jr., and 0. D. Reed, "made 

no protest" as to their connection with the kidnapping. The fourth, George Jackson, a 

city detective, denied any involvement, and was later set free. The court released each of 

the alleged attackers on a bond of one thousand dollars, which was quickly paid, thanks 

to supporters. Many whites applauded the whitecappers' extra-legal action to fight crime, 

evidenced by the overwhelming number of donations to keep the men out of jail while 

waiting for trial. As the Waco Times Herald reported, "Following the announcement of 

the court's decision in the case there was a rush among prominent citizens of the city to 

go on the bond of the men. Never has there been such united effort on the part of the 

citizens of the community to go on the bond of any person." This united effort consisted 



of 101 men, including doctors, lawyers, bankers, ministers, businessmen, and two 

Confederate veterans, all of whom fully supported the whitecapping. The defendants' 

attorneys, forriler judge Erwin J. Clark and C. S. Farmer, also contributed to the bond. 

Undoubtedly the one-hundred "generous" men included several Klansmen. Both 

Kennedy Cummings and his wife, Ruth, pleaded guilty to vagrancy charges and paid 

fines of $150 each. Soon after, they left Waco. Without Cummings to testify in court, 

the district attorney dropped the charges against the whitecappers. 5 
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Although this Klan attack was the first one reported in Waco, it probably was not 

the first warning issued by the organization. Newspapers rarely reported such incidents 

when the victim was black, especially if the police did not file a report. History in Waco 

had taught many local African Americans that law enforcement could not be counted on 

for justice, so often they did not even bother calling the police. And blacks had been 

victims of Klan-instigated crime elsewhere in the state, crime that was designed primarily 

to punish alleged race mixing. In April; 1921, masked men burned the letters "KKK" 

into a Dallas bell boy's forehead for inappropriate contact with a white woman. In June, 

men whipped a black man for improper proposals toward a white female, and made him 

walk through the main street of Belton, about 45 miles south of Waco, with a sign that 

read, "Whipped by the Ku Klux Klan." The threat of local violence was clear.6 

The threat ofviolenceto local blacks became even clearer when the Waco Times 

Herald reported two Klan warnings received by Adeline Weaver and her tenant, John 

Titus, both African American, demanding that they leave town. Both messages arrived in 

the same envelope, hand-delivered by an unknown white man, and were signed "KKK." 

The warning to Titus stated, "We have heard that you have had some slack talk, so get 
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out at once."· In this case, the meaning of "slack talk" is not clear. During the war, slack 

talk referred to inflammatory remarks against the United States, but the phrase might 

have implied that Titus was an activist among local blacks. The warning to Weav~r read, 

"You must sell out. This is a warning to the negro homeowners. Get Busy." For several 

years, she had lived in her home in East Waco, which she and her brothers had inherited 

from their father. The previous owner, Hill Brothers and Company, and her father had 

agreed on terms to pay off the property, and Weaver complied until she believed she had 

paid off the debt. The previous owner disagreed, however, and demanded further 

payment. When Weaver refused, Hill Brothers and Company sued her in a lengthy case, 

beginning in July, 1921, ·and ending in November. She stayed in her home until defeated 

in court. The Hill Brothers and Company purchased the property in a court-mandated 

auction in early January, 1922. Since the Klan sent the warning during the proceedings, 

they meant to scare her into giving up her land. Clearly, this warning was intended to 

intimidate the most economically independent and politically active class in the African­

American community. 7 

The Klan used parades as another form of intimidation specifically directed at 

black activism. Several state KKK officials utilized parades to announce a new 

"konklave" and to "make [blacks] more amenable to influence when voting time came." 

Black townspeople of Mart, in the east comer of McLennan County, witnessed a hooded, 

robed procession down their main street. Waco Klansmen joined their local brothers to 

send a more impressive, ominous signal to Mart's black voters. 8 

Several weeks later, on October 1, 1921, another parade, in rural Lorena, fifteen 

miles south of Waco, led to a small riot between county law enforcement officials and 
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Waco Klansmen and ended with fatalities. Klansmen originally wanted to parade in 

Waco, but Sheriff Bob Buchanan denied their request for a permit. Word of the well­

publicized Lorena event spread through notices tacked on telegraph and telephone poles. 

Hundreds of county residents arrived in full regalia of robes, flags, and a cross, and 

spectators lit the road with their headlights. Sheriff Buchanan and his deputies, I. Mack 

Wood and M. Burton, again tried to stop the procession, but a scuffle ensued. 9 

Eye-witness accounts of what actually ignited the brawl and who started the 

violence present conflicting stories. The newspapers reported one eye-witness's version 

that Sheriff Buchanan provoked the battle by ripping the hood off the parade's flag 

bearer, a prominent Waco businessman whose name is unknown. Guy B. Harrison, Jr., 

who was a Baylor History professor, World War I veteran, and a Knight in the Invisible 

Empire, recalled that the Klansmen, when asked by Buchanan to remove their masks, 

took off their masks themselves, but still were not allowed to march. Frustration then led 

the flag bearer to "crack down on the head of the sheriff with the flagstaff," a blow that 

knocked the sheriff to the ground. Harrison's uncle, Louis Crow, a Wacoan spectator 

who reportedly always wore a white suit, ran to the law officer's aid. Buchanan mistook 

Crow for a Klansman and stabbed him, and then began shooting, "firing as fast as he 

could fire." Then, according to Harrison, "he slashed another Klansman, who was a local 

police officer, across the stomach, completely disemboweled him, his insides fell out on 

the street." As the commotion ended, Klansmen immediately "disrobed, unmasked, and 

disappeared," leaving ten men injured, four severely. Ed Howard, the police officer, had 

suffered a stab wound in the stomach. Carl West of Lorena had been shot in the neck, 

and Louis Crow had been fatally stabbed in the right breast. Sheriff Buchanan suffered 
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bullet wounds in his right leg and right lung. 10 

The next day, more than a hundred Lorena citizens filed complaints against the 

sheriff and deputy sheriff Burton, but County Attorney Frank Tirey refused to accept 

them. He decided to call for a grand jury to investigate. The most vocal support for 

action against Buchanan and Burton came from Klan supporters. Town leaders of Lorena 

delivered to Tirey a petition signed by more than three hundred men and women who 

blamed Buchanan, complaining that they had wanted merely to see the parade and that he 

put their lives in danger. After reviewing the evidence and testimony of seventy-five 

witnesses, the grand jury condemned the methods used by the sheriffs department but 

did not pass a bill of indictment. 11 

In response to numerous acts of violence and intimidation in Texas, Anti-Klan 

organizations and groups formed in an attempt to counter Klan activity. Middle-class 

black leaders and sympathetic whites created inter-racial commissions to "formulate 

better feelings between the two races." The movement originally began in Atlanta as a 

response to race riots there and in other areas of the South. In Texas, Houston's Civic 

Betterment League, formed in 1918, and Dallas's Civic Inter-Racial Committee, formed 

in either late 1920 or early 1921. In Waco, the Pastor's Association and "prominent 

citizens of the colored race" formed the McLennan County Inter-Racial Commission at 

the time of the trial ofCummings's whitecappers. 12 

But many whites opposed the Klan for taking the law into its own hands and for 

the national organization's anti-Catholic and anti-Jewish stance, not for threatening blacks 

or flogging drug dealers. Consequently, few white citizens joined the Inter-Racial 

Commission. Instead, many prominent leaders joined the "Anti-Klan" or the McLennan 



County Citizens' League. Over eighty people, including Chief of Police W. H. Jenkins, 

State Representative Edgar E. Witt, business leaders W.W. Woodson, W. M. Sleeper, 

and Asher Sanger, and Joe McNamara, a prominent Catholic attorney, signed a petition 

condemning the Klan. Former Wacoan Tom McCullough and C. 0. Calloway, an 

instructor at Baylor University, spoke publicly against the need for the new Klan and 

attributed social disorder to the organization. 13 
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What came to be known as the Lorena riot forced political and civic leaders to 

question whether the Ku Klux Klan was beneficial or detrimental to society and whether 

it should be allowed to parade. Immediately following the incident, Klansmen paraded 

through Longview, Minola, and Grand Prairie, Texas. The Mayor of Cameron and law 

officers of Laredo and Sherman, however, denied permits to the masked organization. 

The Texas Chamber of Commerce denounced the organization and called upon the state 

and federal government for a resolution to denounce the Klan. The Chicago Defender 

prodded the national government for action, comparing the new KKK to the 

Confederacy. The newspaper complained that Lorena had surrendered like "Sumter in 

the sixties," and that "the much vilified Ku Klux Klan has won what is alleged to be the 

first storm attack on the laws of the Union." The U.S. Senate, which at the time of the 

riot was holding hearings into the finances of the secret society, questioned Imperial 

Wizard William J. Simmons about the i~cident. Simmons responded that he knew little 

more than what the newspapers reported, but he suggested that the sheriff was at fault. 

The Senate committee, satisfied with his answer, moved on to other subjects. After a 

week of hearing testimony, the committee dropped the entire investigation. 14 

Texas newspapermen would not afford Governor Pat Neff the same luxury. They 
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had questioned his stand on the Klan for months, but violence involving his fellow 

Wacoans made the need for a·firm response more urgent. In August, 1921, he had asked 

the state legislature to consider the legality of a "secret organization" that masked itself to 

"inflict punishment on persons against whom no legal complaint has been filed," but this 

did not satisfy his critics. The anti-mask bill failed, and the supporters of the bill blamed 

Neff for not condemning the Klan specifically. After the Lorena riot, he avoided 

questions on the matter, except to offer District Attorney Frank Tirey civil and military 

aid in his investigation of the riot. Tirey declined the offer. On October 22, Neff spoke 

at the Texas Cotton Palace Exposition in his hometown, but never alluded to the recent 

troubles. 15 

Instead, Neff only questioned his attorney general, W. A Keeling, as to the 

legality of masked parades. Keeling responded with a fourteen-page opinion that any 

persons who used threats or violence to improve morality violated the U. S. Constitution, 

and that all parties with knowledge of such illegal acts or "the general purpose to do 

illegal acts" shared in the guilt. Keeling found that masked parades were illegal, "where 

such parade is a part of and in furtherance of a purpose to do some act which would be in 

violation of the law." Neff publicly supported the attorney general's opinion and 

instructed law officers to enforce it. 16 

In Waco, former District Judge Erwin J. Clark publicly criticized the ruling. First, 

he questioned Keeling's power to make law, stating that the attorney general's office is 

an executive position, and not part c:ifthe legislative or judicial branches. Second, Clark 

criticized the opinion as too broad, pointing out that it could apply to many organizations. 

Finally, he defended the Ku Klux Klan, explaining that the society was primarily a 
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patriotic one that believed in "the conservation of our government in its pristine form." 

He stressed that every member took an oath to "preserve the government at all hazard, to 

enforce the laws of this country, and to furnish every aid ... to [law] officers." Clark, 

therefore, insisted that the Klan had the right to assemble for "a peaceful parade as a 

public announcement of the existence of such an organization in the community."17 

Now in private practice, Clark's opinion probably meant little to state officials, 

least of all Attorney General Keeling. To Klansmen, however, Clark's defense gave 

them the legal rationale to continue parades and still be within the law. This appearance 

of legitimacy reinforced the organization's desired public image. 

Clark joined the secret society around this time, but had been associated with it 

ever since he had represented the three masked whitecappers in the Cummings case. 

During that trial, he had received a threatening letter through the slot in his office door. 

This letter identified him as a Klan leader and warned him to leave Texas within thirty 

days or ''we will plant you." It was signed, "XXX, Anti Klan of Texas." The Dallas 

Morning News, the Chicago Defender, and every Waco newspaper printed the letter, 

along with Clark's refusal to leave the city and his denial that he belonged to the 

organization. According to Clark, he eventually joined because, during a brief stint in the 

Army, he saw "conditions" that made him see the Klan as "essential for the welfare of 

this country at this time." 18 

Because Clark believed in what the organization stood for, he represented Louis 

Crow's widow in a suit for fifty thousand dollars in damages against Sheriff Buchanan 

and his deputies. Beginning in November, 1921, the civil suit exhausted everyone 

involved. After two changes of venue and several attempts to find an impartial jury, the 
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case had not yet gone to trial by May. The case eventually lost the newspaper's interest, 

and the matter dropped out of the media. The plaintiff dropped the case .in July, 1922, 

when Clark resigned as counsel for personal reasons. 19 

Clark's legal expertise helped him rise quickly in the Texas Klan's ranks. He 

became the chief of the ko klan committee, the executive committee of the local 

organization, and the grand kludd, which acted like the chaplain. By January, 1922, Dr. 

Hiram Evans, grand dragon of Texas, had appointed him to the office of great titan of 

Province No. 3, which encompassed more than thirty counties, including McLennan. In 

May, Clark accepted a newly-created position of grand counsel of Texas, handling all 

legal matters for the organization in the state.20 

Under Clark, local membership grew rapidly. The Klan's "100 per-cent 

American" objectives appealed to Waco's dominant Southern white Protestant 

population. And the ''New Negro Spirit" pushed many others to seek refuge in the white 

supremacist organization that their fathers and grandfathers had belonged to during 

Reconstruction. The Lorena incident convinced men such as Guy Harrison, who 

witnessed the sheriff attack his uncle, that joining was simply "doing the right thing." In 

early December, 1922, a KKK newspaper estimated that fifteen thousand members 

assembled to hear Governor Neff deliver an address in Waco. On Christmas Eve, Saxet 

No. 33 initiated two hundred new members. A couple of weeks before the next city 

primary in February, over nine hundred took the secret oath, while two hundred and fifty 

others who could not fit into the building had to be turned away. After this, the local 

order held large initiations on farms outside the city.21 

Favorable media coverage of the local Klan organization also contributed to its 
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growth. Beginning in July, 1921, area newspapers often printed stories of.Klan 

philanthropy on the front page. Widows, orphans, and families who experienced hard 

times due to illness or injury received both cash and bags of groceries with a sympathy 

letter signed by the Ku Klux Klan. The number of"gifts" increased during the Christmas 

holidays, although not all donations were accepted. The Methodist Orphanage Home 

declined fifty caps for boys because it opposed the secret society. Other organizations 

gladly accepted offers, such as a piano donated to the Bell's Hill Mother's Club, an 

automobile given to the Child Welfare League, and a United States flag given as a good 

will gesture to the Boy Scouts. By giving to these patriotic and social welfare societies, 

the Klan countered negative publicity with images of charity to respectable 

associations. 22 

Clark and other KKK officials kept track of charity prospects and legal or "moral" 

criminals through an elaborate spy system. For example, when hearing rumors of a laid­

off father or a cheating husband, the head of the ko klan committee, Erwin Clark, would 

choose "one of his neighbors, someone who knew him well, ... to watch him from day to 

day ... and render reports." The committee had access to private telephone 

conversations and telegrams. If a family breadwinner lost his job due to no fault of his 

own, the Klan offered assistance. If the spy system found the man to be lazy or a labor 

agitator, however, committee members "worked him over." Clark used espionage to 

prevent class disorder as well. For example, when Clark's spies heard a rumor that local. 

Mexican workers were planning to rob area banks to fund an uprising, they sent a 

prominent, popular member "of that class" to report back until the alleged crisis passed. 

Although espionage and violence were an intricate part of the local organization, Clark 
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claimed ,that 90 percent of Klan membership had no direct knowledge of such activities. 23 

On the other hand, every Klansman practiced vocational klanishness. This meant 

that Klansmen patronized businesses owned by fellow members, who displayed a white 

card with black bars across it in an "unobtrusive place that would catch a Klansman's 

eye." This provided the organization a measure of economic power within the city. Not 

only did it help connected businessmen, but also the guaranteed clientele provided an 

added incentive to join and maintain membership. As one member recalled, "I wouldn't 

go to a barbershop, or any other place, that didn't have a Klan card visible somewhere." 

This economic power, however, forced many to join to avoid going out of business, or 

could be used to push competitors out of the city. 24 

Regardless of size and strength, the Klan's presence did not deter crime in the 

city, but created an atmosphere more conducive to the mob mentality. On December 1, 

1921, S. L. Connally, a Katy Railroad watchman, was found shot in the neck. Before he 

died, he told police that three black men shot him in an attempted robbery when they 

found that he was without money. By the next morning, nine black men had been 

arrested, three of whom-George Kilbrough and Elijah and Jake Graves-confessed a 

few days later. Chief of Police Lee Jenkins quickly moved the suspects to a Dallas jail, 

knowing that the high-profile case enraged white townspeople. As expected, a mob came 

for the suspects and searched the jail, but found the suspects' cell empty and soon 

dispersed. In all probability, unrobed Klansmen had joined that mob. On December 11, 

Connally' s widow received more than a hundred dollars from the organization to help her 

pay for the funeral. 25 

On December 14, 1921, Waco police faced another mob, this time demanding 
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"Curley" Hackney, a white man charged with assaulting a nine-year-old girl. After 

searching the jail three times, they found him in cell no. 4, "the negro cell." The girl's 

stepfather, followed by several hundred men, drove Hackney three miles outside of South 

Waco, traditionally the black and poor white side of town, where they hanged and shot 

him. 26 

Although Hackney was white, his treatment suggests that the police and the mob 

perceived him as less than white. The type of crime fit white stereotypes of those 

committed by black males, and numerous blacks had been lynched in Texas for the same 

charge. Law officers may have underestimated the mob's determination. This may 

account for their decision not to move Hackney out of the county, as they did with the 

Connally murder suspects. And his placement in a segregated cell and his death three 

miles outside a black neighborhood illustrate that those responsible for his death viewed 

him as less than white. But Hackney was not black either. Newspapers did not use 

words like "brute," "savage,". or "animal" to describe him or his crime. Instead, the paper 

humanized Hackney by mentioning his middle-class parents, his crippled hip, and his 

quiet, almost repentant confession. 27 

Several prominent locals criticized the lynching. They saw it as a sign that the 

mob spirit was growing, caused by a lack ofrespect for the law. District Judge J.P. 

Alexander, in a speech to the McLennan County Bar Association, condemned members 

of the mob as well as law officials who did not protect the prisoner. He stated, "Ifwe 

stood inactive and silent in the face of open and unmasked defiance of the law and the 

courts and officers whom we pay to protect us, how can we expect to retain that 

protection?" District Judge Richard I. Munroe agreed with Alexander's sentiments and 



ordered a grand jury investigation of the mob. City Commissioner J. A. Lemke offered 

resolutions to remove four policemen, including Chief Lee Jenkins, for lack of public 

confidence. Mayor Ben Richards disagreed, however, and asked the commissioners to 

conduct their own investigation. The grand jury failed to indict members of the mob, 

stating that the lynchers had come from out of town and, consequently, could not be 

identified. The commissioners' investigation found that the law officers did everything 

possible to prevent the lynching and were not at fault. 28 
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Because of the reactions of Munroe and others, District Attorney Frank Tirey and 

Sheriff Buchanan felt pressure to prevent another lynching. With the Connally murder 

trial only two weeks after Hackney's death, Tirey requested Governor Neff to send Texas 

Rangers to protect the three black suspects day and night. The court found them guilty 

and sentenced them to be executed. The protection of the Texas Rangers kept them out 

of the mob's noose so they could die in a noose provided by the state.29 

On February 13, 1922, another brutal crime astonished the citizens of Waco and 

increased popular appeal for the Klan's extra-legal justice. In Concord, a rural village 

outside the city, a four-year-old white girl, Willie Lou Barker, witnessed the ax murder of 

her mother and a neighbor boy who came to investigate the commotion. Willie Lou 

described the assailants to police, who also found her father murdered in the parking lot 

of his store. "They looked like Mexicans," she said, "but talked like niggers."30 

Based on Willie Lou's statement, police arrested three white men, seven black 

men, nine Mexican men, and one black woman. Governor Neff issued a proclamation 

offering a reward of two hundred and fifty dollars for the murderers' conviction. The 

local klavern quickly matched that amount. On February 21, the newspaper reported that 
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two African-American men, Benny Young and Cooper Johnson, had confessed to the 

triple murder and were removed from the county by police. By this time, the reward had 

reached niore than one thousand dollars. 31 

The case had inflamed public emotions, raising the possibility of another 

lynching. Again, District Attorney Tirey asked Governor Neff for Texas Rangers to 

maintain order at the trial. Tirey based his prosecution on a bloody shirt and an ax found 

at one defendant's residence, and on both defendants' confessions. The defendants' 

attorneys offered alibis for both men, confirmed by witnesses, and raised questions about 

the so-called confessions. Both Cooper and Johnson claimed that officer Leslie Stegall 

had threatened Ku Klux action if they did not confess to the crimes. Two all-white juries 

dismissed such claims, however, and found both men guilty. They gave Young a life 

sentence for the neighbor's murder and sentenced Johnson to death for murdering the 

Barkers.32 

But time provea that Cooper and Young were innocent, and that they had 

probably told the truth about their coerced confessions. In July, 1922, officer Stegall ran 

as the Klan candidate in McLennan County's Democratic primary. A year later, Roy 

Mitchell, another black man convicted of a separate crime, confessed to the Concord 

murders and five other killings in Texas before he was executed, but it was too late for 

Cooper, who was executed before Mitchell confessed. Despite Mitchell's confession, 

law officers denied any wrong doing, and disputed the innocence of Cooper and Young, 

stating that they believed that Cooper and Young had helped Mitchell with the murders. 33 

The rash of high-profile crimes that hit Waco, the Hackney lynching, and the 

Klan's growing popularity had an obvious effect on race relations. Any lynching 



77 

whatsoever brought back memories of Jesse Washington's brutal death in 1916, and 

"souvenirs" from that lynching, such as fingers, teeth, and chain links, still circulated as 

reminders of Waco's capacity for violence. The cooperative atmosphere created during 

World War I had vanished, and blacks were now dependent on a more accommodating 

relationship with whites than the one in 1919 and· 1920. R. L. Smith and other African­

American leaders, under tremendous pressure to distance themselves from the lower and 

"more criminal" class, supported law and order leagues in response to reports of black 

crime. Accommodation encouraged the self-help philosophy_advocated by Smith in his 

Farmers' Improvement Society. Fewer blacks now voiced East and South Waco 

concerns to the city government. Flood control and playground projects stayed 

unfinished .. City officials stopped making public appearances and good will gestures in 

the black communities because Klan intimidation had greatly diminished the·voting 

strength of those communities. 34 

In 1921, with the city primary looming, the city democratic executive committee 

took the only action legally available to control the black vote. It redrew the voting ward 

lines to include ten sections, instead of the previously established six. This also changed 

the location of several polling places and allowed for extra election judges to monitor 

polling places more carefully than in previous years. Whether pressure on the committee 

left over from 1920, the influence of the recently formed Klan, or a combination of both 

demanded these changes is unknown. The extra precautions proved unnecessary; every 

race went uncontested and few Wacoans, even whites, voted.35 

This election foreshadowed a year of lessened African-American political activity 

in the face of a growing Ku Klux Klan threat. The racial progress made in 1920, 
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although slight, gave the black community hope for greater equality in the future, but 

1921 failed to meet their expectations. Even though the Forum still existed, Waco's 

NAACP chapter had disbanded, leaving the local community without ties to a larger 

national movement. In 1920, city officials agreed to fund a playground forthe black 

elementary school, but they only allotted enough money to buy the land. In 1921, the 

African-American community had to purchase their own playground equipment, unlike 

the white schools. Also, the city had not yet repaired the streets leading to the school. As 

the white supremacist Klan grew, demands that city officials address black community 

issues grew milder and more infrequent.36 

The "New Negro" spirit, although quieted, still survived if only to retain the gains 

that had been achieved in 1919. When African-American veterans of World War I were 

not allowed to attend a disabled veterans conference held at a Waco hotel in May, 1922, 

they protested in black newspapers. R. D. Evans continued to work for voting rights 

through court appeals of Houston's Love v. Griffith, and became president of the 

Independent Negro Voters' League, which spread through the area after its establishment 

in Dallas in 1922. Amidst a relative racial calm between lynchings and trials, L. M. 

Sublett and other leaders attempted in January, 1922, to encourage voting among blacks, 

a right won earlier in Judge Erwin Clark's court. They held a mass meeting to reiterate 

the importance of paying poll taxes. Newspapers did not report any other black political 

activities, such as rallies, before the elections in February or April, during the height of 

the Barker murder investigation and trial. If such activity did occur, leaders refrained 

from mass publicity, probably out of concern for safety. 37 

In both the primary and the general election of 1922, however, the right to vote 
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remained open to African Americans in Waco, due in part to Erwin Clark's influence in 

the Klan. Appointed Great Titan of Province No. 3 in January, 1922, Clark had 

considerable power over his home klavem. Clark disagreed with other state KKK leaders 

about the focus of the organization's militancy, insisting that the Klan should not try to 

restrict the political power of blacks. In a Houston meeting, Hiram Evans of Dallas and 

H. C. McCall, great titan of the Houston province,·had endorsed the use of floggings and 

tar and feather "parties" to discourage black voters. McCall argued that "the best way to 

put the fear of God into the negroes was to take them out and work them over 

occasionally." "Ifwe did not do that," he continued, "the negroes might attempt to 

dominate our primaries." Clark stood by his 1919 Sublett v. Duke decision, however, and 

refused to support any movement to disenfranchise blacks. He explained his position to 

McCall, i~sisting that "the negro has as much right to vote as a white man. "38 

Consequently, McLennan County Citizens' League members and anti-Klansmen 

monitored the African-American polling places to ensure that blacks would go to the 

polls, but blacks' voting strength had weakened too much to pose a threat to Klan 

candidates in the elections of 1922. In the city Democratic primary in February, 

Commissioner J. A. Lemke, who spoke out against the Hackney lynching, challenged 

incumbent Ben Richards for Mayor. Lemke tried to swing the election by gaining the 

black and white anti-mob vote. He advocated the civil improvements in East and South 

Waco that had been promised in 1920-better drainage and better schools. Whether 

Richards, who did not even campaign but won the primary, did or did not belong to the 

Klan is unclear. His son, however, had joined in Dallas and ran Earle Mayfield' s 

campaign for the U.S. Senate-the Klan's official candidate in July's general elections.39 
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The Klan's voting strength grew rapidly before the local general election in April. 

At least a thousand people joined the organization on February 16 and March 5, 1922. 

On February 17, twenty-seven interurban cars brought robed members from Central 

Texas to Fort Worth for a parade of eight thousand Klansmen. The growth in numbers 

made greater political control possible. Clark stated later that he and other Klan leaders 

"attempted to create political machines which [they] dominated, and the order being 

militant in its nature, [they] expected to control ... candidates." Members and 

sympathetic candidates gained favor in the political machine. In April, the robed 

brotherhood established a local political machine. Two write-in Klan candidates, J. D. 

Willis and Dr. Ed Smith, defeated the Democratic nominees in a landslide for city 

recorder and a water board commission office.40 

Even before the local election, Clark and the four other great titans of Texas 

began preparing for the state Democratic primary held in July. By March, Sterling 

Strong of Dallas, Earle Mayfield of Houston, and Robert L. Henry of Waco, all 

Klansmen, announced their campaigns for the U.S. Senate. Hiram Evans, now a national 

official as well as great titan of Dallas, met with the other titans, including Clark, at the 

Raleigh Hotel in Waco to voice his concerns about a split-KKK vote. He wanted Strong 

and Henry to drop out of the race, but Clark disagreed, arguing that Henry was the 

strongest candidate. In what they called the "Waco agreement," they decided to let voters 

in the primary election decide, and that in the case of a run-off, the man with fewest votes 

would drop out. When opposition candidates Charles Culberson and Cullen Thomas 

qpenly attacked the Klan for undermining law and order, Henry, like Strong, who had 

already openly acknowledged his ties to the Klan, desired to seize the initiative and 
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defend his organization, to admit publicly that he had donned the hood and robe. 

National officials, including Evans, agreed to this unusual request. While Henry publicly 

defended the KKK' s role in society, local klaverns continued to build membership before 

the state primaries in July. In June alone, Waco's Sweet No. 33 initiated more than 

twenty-five hundred new K.lansmen. 41 

As the Invisible Empire's influence extended across the state, the mob spirit and 

complacency of law enforcement swelled. The number of Texas lynchings in 1922 

equaled the combined number in 1920 and 1921, with ten in May alone. On May 6, a 

mob spree began explosively in Kirven, fifty miles east of Waco, where a mob burned 

three black men on the public square. Two days later, another man was found hanging 

from a tree outside of town. Lynchings followed in Conroe, Alleyton, Plantersville, and 

Texarkana. 42 

Waco claimed the tenth lynching victim of May. In the evening of the 25th, Mrs. 

Maggie Hays reported that a "yellow negro with a gold tooth" had assaulted her for three 

hours after fatally shooting her male companion, Harrell Bolton, on Corsicana road 

outside Waco. Six days earlier, another white couple, W. P. Cottrell and Mrs. Marjorie 

Sheffield, had been attacked in Cameron Park on the north side of the city. In response, 

citizen posses roamed the area, and officers rounded up blacks matching the description. 

E. L. McClure, a neighbor ofHays's father, Sam Harris, brought Jesse Thomas, a lighter­

skinned black service car driver, to the girl for identification, after luring Thomas with 

the promise of work. Harris and McClure then forced Thomas to open his mouth so that 

Hays could see the gold tooth, after which she said, "That's him, papa." Harris quickly 

fired nine times, killing Thomas as he ran out of the house. 43 
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Earlier in the day, Constable Stegall had arrested another suspect whose shoe 

prints matched those at the crime scene. More than two thousand people crowded around 

the county jail and demanded the suspect. Several prominent men, including Erwin 

Clark, addressed the crowd to convince them to disperse. When word spread that Harris 

had already killed Thomas, the alleged assailant, "as if by magic, the crowd [left the jail 

and] started on a dead run" to see the body. When the mob found Thomas's body in a 

hearse, they removed it, tied it to a truck, and dragged it past the girl's house and then 

down Franklin Street to City Hall, where Jesse Washington had met a similar fate in 

1916. As if they were reliving that day six years ago, a crowd of five thousand watched 

as Thomas' s corpse burned. A newspaper described the spectacle: 

Cheer after cheer went and a host of hands took the body from the truck on which 
it was carried and preparations made to bum it. . . . The body was stripped of 
clothing and then thrown upon the fire amid shouts of 5,000 people gathered 
there. It seemed as if all were anxious to see the actual burning. And the crowds 
surged back and forth while those who got too hot gave way for others who were 
anxious to see. "Make way for the ladies" was a common cry. . . . Women of all 
stations flocked to the scene and sought a vantage place. People climbed trees, sat 
in windows, and every point from which a good view could be had was fought 
over by more than one. 

Stegall later found the body being dragged around town by seven boys, and sent it to a 

black undertaker.44 

Sam Harris, who killed Thomas, turned himself in, but was not charged, despite 

the fact that the police knew that Thomas was innocent. They had arrested "Sank" 

Johnson for Bolton's murder and the assault on Hays hours before Thomas was killed. 

To prevent another lynching, the Texas Rangers returned to Waco to protect Johnson. 

The police questioned Johnson's guilt as well when, in July, someone attacked another 

couple in Jolly, Texas, near Wichita Falls. The similarities between the cases were too 



obvious to disregard. As with Bolton and Hays and the couple in Cameron Park, the 

couple were out together when a black man shot the man and raped the woman. 45 
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Waco police officers never doubted the innocence of Thomas, whose only crime 

had been that of being a mulatto with a gold tooth. Thomas, like Benny Young and 

Cooper Johnson, who were convicted of the triple Concord murders, was considered a 

"mongrel" in the eyes of whites, especially those who wore hoods. Pro-Klan newspaper 

articles condemned "race mixing" as criminal, and warned against "cohabitation." In 

March, 1922, at a KKK parade in Granger, knights carried signs stating that blacks were 

"all right," but that warned, "Look Out, Mulatto." In Houston, masked men attacked a 

white man who lived witp a black woman, and castrated a mulatto doctor for 

"consorting" with white women. Although law officials immediately acknowledged 

Thomas's innocence, no white leader in Waco condemned Harris for murdering him. 

The Methodist Pastors of Waco, the American Legion, the Waco Baptist Pastor's 

Association, and even the Ku Klux Saxet No. 33 condemned only the lawlessness of 

Harris's action, not the murder itself. In fact, several people commended Harris for doing 

"a fine job."46 

For the black community, Thomas's murder only confirmed that the pre-World 

War I repressive atmosphere had returned to Waco. The hope for greater democracy, 

gained during the war and heightened after Sublett v. Duke, continued to diminish in light 

of worsening racial relations. In June, 1922, the McLennan County Democratic 

executive committee threatened the political and legal gains made by African-American 

leaders when it again barred blacks from voting in the July primary based on the 

recommendation of the state executive committee. 47 
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Racial tensions increased when black leaders immediately took legal action in 

response. On June 27, R. D. Evans told newspapers that local blacks had hired him to 

petition for an injunction to prevent their disfranchisement. That night, a fire in East 

Waco destroyed an entire city block, consisting of nine buildings, including a grocery 

store and a cafe. Whether the fire was an accident or the result of arson is unclear. The 

fire, however, did not deter black leaders from continuing their fight. The next evening, 

L. M. Sublett held a mass meeting in East Waco to raise legal funds and to decide whose 

names would appear on the injunction. In response, more than fifteen thousand 

Klansmen from Central Texas attended an initiation ceremony and barbecue outside 

Waco the very next evening. As a newspaper account reported, "The fiery cross, 25 feet 

in diameter and mounted on a fifty foot telephone pole, could be seen for miles."48 

Perhaps to appear accommodating, several African-American leaders, including· 

Sublett, met with the county Democratic executive committee to request the continued 

right of blacks to vote, but were unsuccessful. Evans responded to the rebuff by filing the 

petition on behalf of R. C. Smith, son of R. L. Smith, Henry White, J. A. McPherson, and 

Rev. A. A. Lucas. In Smith v. Strecker, Evans repeated his arguments from the 1919 

case, and hoped that Judge James P. Alexander would share Erwin Clark's judicial point 

ofview. 49 

On July 12, 1922, Judge Alexander denied the petition for an injunction, however, 

and allowed the restoration of the white primary in McLennan County. Alexander based 

his decision on his view that the state executive committee that made the original 

recommendation to ban blacks from voting in the primary acted as a private organization, 

and that the state had no authority to interfere with a membership restriction of a private 



organization. He told reporters that he found only one precedent, the Sublett case, to 

support the African Americans' petition, but emphasized that he disagreed with Judge 

Clark's decision in that 1919 case.50 
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Coincidentally, Erwin Clark's duties as general legal counsel for the Texas Ku 

Klux Klan kept him out of Waco during the months of June and July. His absence, 

coupled with his public stand against the mob in May and the tremendous growth in the 

local klaverns, probably lessened his control at home. In fact, Clark had been losing 

influence with state officials since May. Secretly, the great titans of Houston, Dallas, and 

Fort Worth agreed to hold an elimination election before the July primary to choose the 

Klan's U. S. Senator candidate, and this decision violated the "Waco agreement." 

Unbeknown to Clark, they had intended to use Robert Henry as a stalking-horse. Henry's 

Klan campaign diverted negative attention from their favored man, Earle Mayfield, who 

had ties to big business through his cousin, Texas Railroad Commissioner Allison 

Mayfield. 51 

When Clark discovered the subterfuge, he tried to resign his post and terminate 

his membership in mid-June. Convinced by friends to remain until the election, however, 

he spent most of his free time trying to salvage the campaign of his friend Robert Henry 

during the last two months before the election. Clark commenced a letter-writing 

campaign to gain assurances from the great titans and Hiram Evans that the "Waco 

agreement" would be honored. His efforts failed. Disgusted by the Klan's betrayal, 

Clark wrote to the Klans of Texas, exposing the state officials' dishonesty and their 

violations ofklannish principles. On July 17, he officially resigned as the Klan's legal 

counsel and as great titan of Province 3. He remained inactive in the organization until 



he terminated his membership in the Klan iri December, 1922. The Dallas Morning 

News made his letter of resignation public knowledge two days before the primary. 52 
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On July 22, the Ku Klux Klan gained important state offices and nearly swept 

county races without having to contend with black voters, who were now fully 

disfranchised again. McLennan County cast its vote for Allison Mayfield as Railroad 

Commissioner, for Col. Billie Mayfield (no relation) as State Attorney General, and for 

Pat Neff as Governor. Billie Mayfield had made his Klan membership public by 

publishing a Klan newspaper in Houston, and this contributed to his defeat state-wide. 

Neff' s law and order stance plus his weak hand toward the Klan gained him the Invisible 

Empire's vote. In the U.S. Senate race, Henry won the majority of votes in McLennan 

County but lost the race to Earle Mayfield. Henry quit the KKK soon after.53 

On the county level, the most important races in the eyes of McLennan County 

African Americans went to Klansmen. Incumbent Frank Tirey, who verbally attacked the 

masked society in newspapers, lost the County Attorney's office to C. S. Farmer. 

Farmer's Klan affiliation dated back to 1921 when he represented Carl West during the 

Crow-Buchanan trials, as well as the whitecappers who attacked Kennedy Cummings. In 

the race for Sheriff, Leslie Stegall defeated Bob Buchanan by an overwhelming 

majority. 54 

The election represented a significant defeat for African Americans in Waco. A 

year later the state legislature amended the Terrell election law so it specifically barred 

blacks from voting in primary elections. Although black political leaders continued their 

efforts on behalf of civil rights over the next twenty years in Texas, they had to wait, 

along with the rest of the state, for Smith v. Al/right in the 1940s to see the end of the 
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white primary. Neither Richard D. Evans nor Louis M. Sublett, however, lived long 

enough to vote in the Democratic primary. Sublett continued striving for greater political 

rights until his death in 1930. After appearing before the U. S. Supreme Court in appeals 

of Love v. Griffith, Evans worked with the NAACP in suffrage cases but only as an · 

assistant to the association's white lawyers, who never allowed him to retake the helm 

and direct the cases. He continued the legal struggle for the right to vote in primaries 

until his car was hit by the Katy train on the outskirts of Waco. He died in 1938, a week 

after being named the President of the Texas chapter of the NAACP. Rev. Albert A. 

Lucas, a co-petitioner in Smith v. Strecker, assumed a black leadership role after moving 

to Houston in 1934. 55 

The election defeated Erwin Clark as well. Now an ex-Klansman, Clark moved 

his family to Houston and opened a law practice with friend and fellow ex-Klansman 

Robert Henry. In one of his first cases, he represented George Kimbro, the man who 

controlled the early organization of the Klan in Texas, in a counter suit against his old 

organization for copyright infringement. This act made him a traitor in the eyes of the 

hooded order. The Invisible Empire punished Clark, as they did in the case of all traitors, 

by demanding that members cut all ties with him. His law practice then suffered 

financially because he was unable to obtain clients as the result of the Klan's economic 

pressure. In September, 1925, after losing the Kimbro case, Clark killed himself, leaving 

a wife and two small children. In a suicide note, Clark wrote: 

To all young men-if you want to succeed as a lawyer disregard entirely the 
admonitions of your forbears-be a cross between a politician, a preacher, and a 
pawnbroker-and with the mercy of God, you may survive-but, my advice to all 
men is to be honest and, for God's sake, stop trying to be an admoniter of the 
public weal.. .. I've tried hard; oh, so hard! to make good, ... but the public and 
the world doesn't know the meaning or the worth of a real lawyer. 
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As a judge, he held justice, honesty, and democracy sacred. This idealism dominated his 

decision in Sublett v. Duke and, irnriically, convinced him misguidedly tojoin the Ku 

Klux Klan. When the Klan betrayed him, he felt that he had failed-a victim of his own 

contradictions. The defeat killed him. 56 ' 

The rise of tlie Ku Klux Klan restored white control in Waco, contributed to the 

testoraticm _of the white primary, and reestablished the framework of race relations that 

had prevailed before Wodd War I. The Klan found fertile soil in the city among a native 

white Protestant population that was disillusioned by the social changes created by the. 

war and its aftermath. In this racially-strained atmosphere, _a black middle class struggled 

Jo retain access to full suffrage, butwithout success. Furthermore, the black middle class 
.· - . ·"· . . ··.. . : . . 

continued to separate-itself from the black lower class 1n a failed attempt to improve 

whites' impressions of the race as a_whole and. to -prove that they deserved full 

·democracy. 
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CONCLUSION 

For African Americans, the effects of World War I on race relations in Waco 

were similar to those elsewhere in the United States. As a result of the war's demand for . . . . . . : . 

patriotic racial cooperation,. blacks emerged from the war more: outspoken and ~litant, 

rejoiced in their renewed racial pride, and demanded greater civil rights. The war became 

a turning point for African Americans' self-perception, contributing to an even stronger 

awareness of their social importance. Once ignited, this "New Negro" spirit contiriued to 
. . 

flouris~ sparking demands_ for further political and social changes. On the o~her hand, 

however, the war and its aftermath also created among many whites a sense of 

disillusionment, cynicism, fears of radicalism; and a desperate need to restore traditional 

morality and racial control. In several places, including Waco, these two side-effects of 

World War I clashed. 

Waco, however, serves as an exi;i.mple of the importap.ce oflocal studies in 

understanding the complexities of these larger movements. Here, a black middle-class 

grass-roots organization made the first legal attempt to overthrow the white primary in 

Texas. It was also the first successful attempt, although short lived. To some extent the 

political courage of those who spearheaded the case had existed prior to the war in 

several. individuals, including L. M. Sublett, who had been a leader in the black Populist 

movement, and R. D. Evans, who had faced white opposition by representing Andrew 

Smith when he was arrested for speaking out against the lynching of Jesse Washington in 

97 



1916. The war, however, spread thatcourage throughout the black community, as 

illustrated by the number of black voters in 1919 and 1920. 
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The racial cooperation that existed during and immediately after the war can be 

attributed, in large ptl.11, to the Federal Government's presence at Camp MacArthur and 

Rich Field. Although the Federal Government never forced regulations or demanded 

racial unity, the Council of Defense made it a "patriotic" duty. Likewise, the Army's 

presence served as a daily reminder of the need for this cooperation, particularly after the 

1917 riot, and represented an economic force that local leaders did not want to sacrific~. 

Surprisingly this cooperation continued throughout most of 1919, even after the Sublett v. 

Duke decision and the Red Summer. 

On the surface, Judge Erwin-Clark's decision to ban the white primary in Sublett 

v. Duke and his role in the Ku Klux Klan appear contradictory. How could a Klansman, 

much less the state organization's official legal counsel, publicly support African 

Americans' right to full suffrage? His judgeship in the Nineteenth District Court of 

McLennan County was an appointed position, and since the evidence shows that Clark 

never attempted to run for an elected office, his ruling in Sublett v. Duke was not an 

attempt to gamer the black Democratic vote for himself. Nor did he campaign for any 

local candidates. Clark did not have any apparent vendettas against the local Democratic 

executive committee or the Democratic Party, to which he belonged, In fact, the number 

of times he defended his court decision in newspapers and other public forums to fellow 

Klansmen indicates that he truly believed that blacks should be allowed full suffrage. 

As Clark illustrates, motivations for joining the Ku Klux Klan varied depending 

on the individual and location. Charles Alexander, in his study, The Ku Klux Klan in the 
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Southwest, argues that the Klan in Texas was not exclusively an anti-black organization, 

but rather a politically and morally-driven law-and-order organization that used vigilante 

tactics against bootleggers, wife-beaters, adulterers, and drug dealers. This argument is 

apparently accurate in the case of Erwin Clark, but it is misleading in regard to the 

overall commitment of the Klan to racial control and the disfranchisement of African 

Americans. It is true that the number of Klan parades and acts of intimidation reported in 

newspapers dropped off sharply after-Clark gained control of his district in January, 

1922, particularly in comparison to the· D~las and Houston Province·s: Concern over the 

"New Negro" spirit, however, motivated countless individuals to join the white 

supremacist group, as evidenced by the restoration of the white primary in 1922 and the 

increased violence as Clark soon lost control of his province. The Waco Klan in the 

1920s illustrates the diversity within both the local a,nd state organization, as well as the 

importance oflocal issues in-the K. K. K.' s popularity. l 

. Because of time constraints, this study leaves several questions unanswered. 

Although touched on, class divisions within the Waco black community, as well as class 

differences within the local white community, need further examination. The evidence 

suggests that the self-help philosophy adopted by many middle-class blacks 1n Waco, 

along with Klan-applied pressures, widened the intraracial economic gap and contributed 

to the deepening of negative attitudes toward impoverished blacks. Also, a better 

understanding of political divisions between accommodationists and more militant 

activists is needed to grasp the complexities within the black community, and to counter 

· the misleading image of a homogenous racial consciousness. In addition, further study of 

the local Klan during and after Clark's resignation would reveal how much impact or 



100 

control he did have within his province. Obviously,_ more research needs to be done on 

Clark, as well as on early civil rights pioneers,. L. M. Sublett and R. D. Evans.· 
. . 

Finally, a study of the eyolution.ofrace relations through the Depressio_n,·World 

.War II, and the later Civil Rights Movement in sm~ller cities and rural areas in Texas 
. . ~ ' 

would add another layer of sophistication to ou(understandirig of.t~e .stl'llggl~ fqr :ciyil 
. . . . . .. ; ... ~ •.. . - ·. . . : 

rights. The politically active black community .and the legacy of racial violence-and 
··- -; . . . . . . .. . . 

discrimination makes Waco and McLennan County prime subjects for such studies-. An 

examination ofracia1 tensions and struggles during Waco's last fifty years of the 

t~entieth s;entury may also help explain why tensions still exist in that city today; 

The stigma of Waco's brutal past still haunts the city. For example, Lawrence 

Johnson, a black city councilman since 1990, first heard of Jesse Washington's lynching 

at the National Civil Rights Museum in Memphis, Tennessee, where he found a picture of · 

Washington's body, still with a chain around his neck,_lying on burning garbage 

surrounded by thousands of white Waco onlookers. Beyond the brutality, Johnson was 

. most disturbed by. the. fact that it '1was a city-condoned event." Since then, he has tried 

to convince city leaders to build a memorial to "the Waco Horror," to condemn the city's 

actions in 1916, and affirm Waco's dedication to ')usiice, due process, and the protection 

of people. " 2 

His proposal, however, lacks support from other.city council members, who. 

would rather not re,member. such negative images from the past. ·what they do not realize 

is that the importance of the Jesse Washington lynching lies not only inwhat happened 

that day in 1916, but also in· the entire history of violence and oppression that it 

symbolizes. By ignoring the past, many whites refuse to acknowledge their role in 
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shaping contemporary race relations. But more than the Jesse Washington lynching has 

been forgotten; so, too, has the perseverance of those who faced that violence and yet 

continued their struggle for equal rights. 3 
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NOTES 

1. Charles C. Alexander, The Ku Klux Klan in the Southwest. (Lexington: .University of 
Kentucky Press, 1965), 23. 

2. Patricia Bernstein, "Past, Tense" Texas Monthly 27 (April 1999), 24. 

3: Ibid. 
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